          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          8  (Held Jointly With)

             COMMITTEE ON STATE And FEDERAL

          9  LEGISLATION

         10

             -------------------------------x

         11

         12                 March 22, 2005

                            Start:  1:25 p.m.

         13                 Recess: 4:15 p.m.

         14                 City Hall

                            Council Chambers

         15                 New York, New York

         16

                  B E F O R E:

         17

                         DAVID WEPRIN

         18                 Chairperson, Finance Committee

         19              JOEL RIVERA

                            Chairperson, State and Federal

         20                 Legislation Committee

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             COUNCIL MEMBERS:

          4  Margarita Lopez

             Madeline Provenzano

          5  Christine Quinn

             Leroy Comrie

          6  Bill DeBlasio

             Simcha Felder

          7  Lewis Fidler

             James Gennaro

          8  Oliver Koppell

             Helen Sears

          9  Dennis Gallagher

             James Oddo

         10  Joseph Addabbo

             Maria Baez

         11  Erik Martin Dilan

             Alan Gerson

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Congressman Jerrold Nadler

          4  New York 8th District

          5  Denny Meyer

             President

          6  American Veterans for Equal Rights

          7  Dr. Franklin E Kameny

          8  Christopher Neff

             Vice President

          9  Gay & Lesbian Activist Alliance

         10  James P Reilly

         11  Major Jeffrey P McGowan

         12  Leslie Deutsch

         13  Jason Cianciotto

             Research Director

         14  National Gay & Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute

         15  Billiam VanRoestenberg

         16  Kevin B McGrath

             Counsel, Philip Nizer

         17  Representing Madison Square Garden

         18  Doug Turetsky

             Independent Budget Office

         19

             Bettina Damiani

         20  Director

             Good Jobs New York

         21

             Bonnie Brower

         22  Executive Director

             City Project

         23

             Carole Ibata

         24  Madison Square Garden Employee

         25

                                                            4

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Laura Ward

          4  Madison Square Garden Employee

          5  Tom McMorrow

             westsidestadium.org

          6

             Kevin Kovalycsik

          7  Visiting Assistant Professor & Associate Director

             Center for Sport Management at The Stillman School

          8  of Business at Seton Hall University

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            5

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          3  much.  Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

          4  Today's hearing of the State and Federal Legislation

          5  Committee will be held in two parts.  My name is

          6  Joel Rivera.  I'm Chair of the State and Federal

          7  Legislation. Before I begin, let me start by

          8  introducing my colleagues.  To my far left, we have

          9  Council Member Dilan and we have Council Member

         10  Addabbo and we also, to my right, have Councilwoman

         11  Margarita Lopez.

         12                 Today's hearing of the State and

         13  Federal Legislation will be held, as I stated, in

         14  two parts.  First, we will be hearing testimony

         15  regarding Resolution Number 277 which would call

         16  upon the President Bush and Congress and the

         17  Department of Defense to replace the current "Don't

         18  Ask, Don't Tell" policy with a policy of anti-

         19  discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation.

         20  A Gallup Poll conducted in December of 2003 found

         21  that 79 percent of respondents supported allowing

         22  gay men and lesbians to serve openly in the

         23  military.  A 1999 report of Stanford University has

         24  also noted that the actual effect of "Don't Ask,

         25  Don't Tell" policy has been to institutionalize
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          2  discrimination in the U.S. Military.

          3                 Before I cede the floor to my

          4  colleague Alan Gerson, who will be joining us within

          5  one minute, he's right over here as a matter of

          6  fact, I would like to note that we will convene this

          7  hearing again jointly with the Finance Committee at

          8  2:30.  This portion of the hearing will examine the

          9  purpose and effectiveness of the tax exemption

         10  granted to Madison Square Garden.

         11                 So the first portion will be on

         12  Resolution Number 277 and at this point in time,

         13  besides Council Member Alan Gerson, who just joined

         14  us here to my left, we also have Councilwoman Maria

         15  Baez, who -- she's right over here to my left as

         16  well, and now -- oh, no, 438, I apologize, there's

         17  just a typo here.  438 and at this point in time,

         18  I'll introduce my Council colleague and author of

         19  Resolution 438 which is Council Member Alan Gerson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

         21  much, Chair Rivera.  Thank you very much for your

         22  leadership in organizing and holding this hearing.

         23  As always, you are a champion of human rights and a

         24  friend to all of us and thank you to all of my

         25  colleagues.  I will be very brief because nothing I
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          2  can say could supplant the, the testimony which we

          3  are about to hear and let me also acknowledge my

          4  Congress member, I am proud to say, Congress Member

          5  Jerry Nadler.  As always, we look forward to your

          6  words of wisdom.

          7                 Mr. Chair, I want to dedicate my very

          8  brief remarks and my sponsorship of this resolution

          9  to my cousin Bernard Granville.  Many of you may

         10  have known him.  He passed away within the past half

         11  a year at the age of 81.  He was an activist.  He

         12  was one of the early, openly gay insurance agents,

         13  members of the insurance industry and he performed a

         14  great service to many in the community in accessing

         15  insurance to them.  He was a civil rights and

         16  community pioneer as an openly gay man with a

         17  successful business.  He was also a great and

         18  talented cabaret singer and performer.  He was also

         19  a veteran.  He served proudly and with distinction

         20  in World War II and received an honorable discharge

         21  at the conclusion of his service and so in Bernard's

         22  memory and the memory of the many lesbian and gay

         23  veterans and service members, many of whom perished,

         24  who have served with distinction, I say to you and

         25  urge that this City Council say to Washington that
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          2  it is time to move beyond "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" to

          3   "Don't Care, Don't Matter".

          4                 From the dawn of our military

          5  history, lesbians and gays and bisexuals have served

          6  in every armed service of this nation with

          7  distinction.  They have paid the ultimate sacrifice

          8  in many cases.  They have, like my cousin Bernard,

          9  concluded their service with honorable discharge to

         10  go on to be upstanding members of the community and

         11  to serve in so many ways as distinguished veterans

         12  and role models to all of us.  They deserve the

         13  recognition, and they deserve not to be interrupted

         14  by a cell phone, I apologize, of non-

         15  discrimination.  They deserve to have their service

         16  validated with a firm, unquestionable policy of non

         17  discrimination in our military service as we are

         18  moving towards in society at large.

         19                 But most importantly, we need to do

         20  this for the current service members who are lesbian

         21  or gay or bisexual.  They are serving in

         22  Afghanistan.  They are serving in Iraq.  They are

         23  serving in every military installation of every

         24  service throughout this country and throughout the

         25  world.  I know because I am a retired Army
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          2  Reservist, a member of the JAG Corps and as a member

          3  of the JAG Corps, I provided legal services to many

          4  service members including members who were lesbian

          5  or gay or bisexual.  They serve with distinction and

          6  they deserve to be assured the same privileges and

          7  opportunities and recognition that every other

          8  member of the armed service receives and I'll

          9  conclude on this one note.

         10                 If we are concerned about the

         11  training and the morale and the well being and the

         12  effectiveness of our armed forces, there is no

         13  greater reason than to assure that effectiveness and

         14  that morale than to move to a non- discriminatory

         15  policy.  There's nothing that could be more

         16  distracting to a service member who happens to be

         17  lesbian or gay or bisexual in their training and in

         18  situations of combat, when they should be devoting

         19  all of their energies and efforts to their service,

         20  than to be worried about being caught up in a

         21  discriminatory policy.

         22                 And if we are concerned about

         23  training all members of the armed service

         24  effectively, we must include in that training, their

         25  ability to interact and deal with services members
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          2  of all sexual orientations because, in fact, that is

          3  what they are doing and there's nothing that will

          4  more undermine the morale of our armed service than

          5  to deny a reality to put young men and women in

          6  situations where they are not able to effectively

          7  deal with persons of all sexual orientations because

          8  of a discriminatory policy.

          9                 There could be nothing worse in a

         10  combat situation than to have anything less than a

         11  fully cohesive and united fighting body and the only

         12  way to assure that cohesiveness and that

         13  effectiveness in, God forbid, times of combat is to

         14  assure that every service member could relate to his

         15  comrade of whatever sexual orientation and the only

         16  way to assure that is through a strict non-

         17  discriminatory policy.  So from the standpoint of

         18  what is right and what is just and from the

         19  standpoint of what is in the best interests of

         20  developing the best most effective armed service, I

         21  say again, we must jettison "Don't Ask, Don't Tell"

         22  and replace it with "Don't Care, Don't Matter".

         23  Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member Gerson.  At this point in time,
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          2  we're going to be hearing testimony from a number of

          3  people who have come here to City Hall today.  First

          4  and foremost, we have our illustrious Congressman

          5  Jerrold Nadler, who is doing a phenomenal job for

          6  the City of New York and for the State of New York

          7  and for our nation and we are honored to have you

          8  here with us and the floor is yours.

          9                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Thank you very

         10  much, Mr. Chairman.  I'd like to thank you and the

         11  other members of the Committee for this opportunity

         12  to testify.  I'd like to thank my Councilman,

         13  Councilman Gerson for introducing this resolution.

         14                 It is now almost 12 years since the

         15  United States Military put into place the so- called

         16   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell, Don't Pursue" policy

         17  regarding our country's gay and lesbian soldiers.

         18  For more than a decade, we have foolishly allowed

         19  this disastrous, discriminatory and unconstitutional

         20  policy to waste hundreds of millions of taxpayer

         21  dollars, undermine military readiness and indirectly

         22  threaten our national security.

         23                 In 1993, I repeatedly denounced the

         24  overheated and irrational rhetoric of some of my

         25  colleagues in Congress and our nation's military
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          2  leaders as they reacted to President Clinton's

          3  decision to end the ban through executive order.

          4  Only two weeks after the first bill codifying the

          5  proposed policy was introduced in the House, as a

          6  matter of principle and to highlight the injustice

          7  of this action, I introduced a bill to prohibit

          8  discrimination by the Armed Forces on the basis of

          9  sexual orientation.  Now, I am proud to be an

         10  original co- sponsor of the Military Readiness

         11  Enhancement Act recently introduced by Congressman

         12  Meeham of Massachusetts, who is a member of the

         13  Armed Services Committee.

         14                 Pandering to intolerance, prejudice

         15  and fear in the name of "unit cohesion" was a

         16  colossal mistake 12 years ago.  It echoed the racist

         17  efforts in the 1940s to keep African Americans from

         18  serving their country in the Armed Forces.  Today,

         19  with our soldiers under fire in Iraq and

         20  Afghanistan, our nation grappling with the threat of

         21  global terrorism and our brave fighting men and

         22  women routinely forced to endure unprecedented

         23  extensions of their tours of duty, keeping this

         24  policy in place is simply inexcusable. At a time

         25  when we are facing increasing threats to our
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          2  national security from so many quarters and a

          3  burgeoning budget deficit, how can we countenance

          4  the loss of hundreds of specialists with critical

          5  and rare skills such as fluency in Arabic, Farsi,

          6  Chinese and Korean.

          7                 In addition to revealing that we have

          8  discharged more than 300 soldiers with such language

          9  skills, a recent report by the General

         10  Accountability Office, has clearly stated that while

         11  it's impossible to prepare a truly accurate estimate

         12  of the ban's costs, a very conservative estimate of

         13  the cost of the ban so far is at least $191 million.

         14    This number truly represents a low- ball estimate

         15  since it based only on the cost of replacing and

         16  training the lost enlisted personnel and does not

         17  include the actual costs of processing and

         18  discharging them.  It also does not mention the much

         19  higher costs associated with replacing officers and

         20  specialists.  The true costs are likely to be

         21  several times this amount.

         22                 With Australia and Great Britain

         23  ending their anti gay bans over the last few years,

         24  we now stand along among the western industrialized

         25  nations in letting prejudice and bias overwhelm
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          2  fairness and good sense and undermine our military

          3  readiness.  Indeed, at this very moment in Iraq,

          4  openly gay Australian and British soldiers are

          5  serving with honor alongside our troops.  In fact,

          6  to add insult to injury, many of our own gay and

          7  lesbian soldiers must surely be watching with some

          8  degree of envy as their colleagues put the lie to

          9  the unit cohesion myth in front of their very eyes.

         10                 Characterized at the time as a

         11  necessary political compromise that none the less

         12  represented an incremental step forward for gay and

         13  lesbian service members, the "Don't Ask, Don't Tell,

         14  Don't Pursue" policy has proven to be an unmitigated

         15  disaster, ushering in an epidemic of anti- gay

         16  harassment and far more, not fewer, discharges based

         17  on sexual orientation than before this so called

         18   "liberalizing step" was put in place in 1993.  Of

         19  course, with the military campaign in Afghanistan,

         20  and the Administration's decision to invade and

         21  occupy Iraq, the number of discharges has

         22  dramatically and steadily dropped.  Obviously, the

         23  military's overblown concerns about unit cohesion

         24  have been altered on the, have been sacrificed on

         25  the altar of expediency as they needed the troops.
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          2  And given President Bush's continuing efforts to

          3  marginalize gay and lesbian Americans and to

          4  relegate them to the status of second class

          5  citizens, this apparent selective enforcement of

          6   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" would represent the height

          7  of hypocrisy and a new low in this Administration's

          8  already abysmal record of anti- gay bias and look

          9  what is happening here.  In a time of peace, this

         10  policy resulted in greatly increased number of

         11  discharges.  Not a liberalizing step.  When we go to

         12  war.  When tours of duty are being extended.  When

         13  we really need every man and every woman, suddenly

         14  there are fewer gays and lesbians being discovered

         15  and discharged.  Expediency rules and obviously,

         16  it's more important to the military to have the

         17  troops than to enforce the policy.  That tells you

         18  how much the policy is worth.

         19                 Though military leaders will not

         20  admit it, it seems evident that this slowdown in

         21  discharges, which has coincided with two wars and

         22  the institution of an increasingly draconian "stop

         23  loss" policy, represents a tacit repudiation of

         24   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell".  I applaud Army Lieutenant

         25  Colonel Allen Bishop, a West Point professor, for
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          2  his recent editorial in the Army Times calling for

          3  an end to the military ban on gays and lesbians

          4  serving. Rightly calling the issue a question of

          5  justice and liberty.  To quote Lieutenant Colonel

          6  Bishop, "When we deny their right to military

          7  service, we improperly restrict the franchise  of

          8  citizenship and give in to homophobic prejudice very

          9  like the unreasoned rational and gender prejudices

         10  of the past."  It is time for the rest of the Armed

         11  Forces to come out of the closet and denounce this

         12  failed policy for what it is, a politically and

         13  ideologically motivated sop to homophobia and an

         14  impediment to maintaining and enhancing military

         15  readiness during a time of war.              It's a

         16  time for the Congress of the United States to adopt

         17  the Military Readiness Enhancement Act and to come

         18  out of the shade of this terrible policy into the

         19  sunlight of a forthright anti- discrimination policy

         20  to utilize the talents and the bravery of all of our

         21  men and women who want to serve and I appreciate

         22  this Council advancing this resolution to urge the

         23  Congress to do exactly that.  I thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much, Congressman.  Also, on the dais with you, we
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          2  also have Denny Meyer, Franklin E Kameny and

          3  Christopher Neff and we'll go within that order.

          4  Denny Meyer being first.

          5                 MR. MEYER: Good afternoon.  Thank

          6  you.  As the Congressman just noted, I have

          7  submitted into the record the article by Colonel

          8  Bishop so that should be on your tables as well.

          9                 I'm Denny Meyer, president of

         10  American Veterans for Equal Rights, the New York

         11  chapter and I am the originator who requested this

         12  resolution and I thank the entire Council and

         13  Council Member Gerson for introducing it.  I also

         14  represent the northeastern region of the United

         15  States for AVER as well as serving as AVER's Vice

         16  President for Veterans Affairs.

         17                 My parents were Holocaust refugees.

         18  They fled Nazi Germany and came to America in the

         19  late 1930s so that I could be born in freedom.  They

         20  raised me on the Upper West Side to cherish American

         21  freedom above all else.  As a result of that

         22  rearing, in 1968 at the height of the Vietnam War, I

         23  volunteered to serve in our Armed Forces despite

         24  being gay.  I later became a Sergeant First Class

         25  with a lot of responsibility and experience,
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          2  coordinating Naval Helicopter Reserve squadrons up

          3  and down the east coast and serving as an

          4  interagency liaison in the Army Reserve.  No one

          5  ever questioned my sexuality.  I served in silence.

          6  In those days, I never expected to be able to serve

          7  openly.  I do now.  I ultimately left the service so

          8  that I would not have to go on leading a double

          9  life, living in constant fear that my military

         10  career would be ruined in an instant as so many

         11  others have been.  I joined the service because I

         12  believed in American freedom.  I left so that I

         13  could live freely as a gay American.

         14                 There have been many thousands such

         15  as myself who left without a word in addition to the

         16  10,000 discharged under the "Don't Ask, Don't Tell"

         17  policy.  Most of us who left without a word, had

         18  multiple enlistments and the loss of experienced

         19  training and leadership is incaluable and uncounted.

         20                 Our national policy of promoting

         21  homophobia within our armed forces has created an

         22  atmosphere of fear and distrust that is destructive

         23  to unit cohesion.  While in other democratic nations

         24  such as the United Kingdom are engaged in

         25  affirmative action programs integrating homosexuals
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          2  into their militaries have proceeded without

          3  incident.

          4                 The time has come for the pointless

          5  policy of ideological discrimination embodied in the

          6   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" policy to come to an end so

          7  that all American patriotic volunteers may serve our

          8  nation in pride.  I thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         10  much.  Next, we'll have Franklin E. Kameny and then

         11  Christopher Neff and then we'll ask questions of the

         12  panel.

         13                 MR. KAMENY: Chairman Rivera and

         14  members of the Committee on State and Federal

         15  Legislation of the City Council of New York.  My

         16  name is Dr. Franklin E. Kameny.  I live at 5020

         17  Cathedral Avenue North West in Washington, D.C.

         18  However, I was born and brought up in Queens and got

         19  my undergraduate degree here so in appearing here,

         20  I'm not appearing as a total alien in New York.

         21                 In any formal sense in testifying

         22  here today in strong support of Resolution 438, I

         23  testify as an individual private citizen who has

         24  been a long time gay activist since 1961 and coined

         25  the slogan "Gay is good" in 1968.  Informally, I am
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          2  here in conjunction with American Veterans for Equal

          3  Rights, AVER with whom I am also in full support.

          4  I testify as well as a gay veteran of frontline

          5  combat in Europe in World War II.  As I still do on

          6  appropriate occasions and this is one such I am

          7  wearing with pride my combat infantryman's

          8  (phonetic) badge, earned in that war.

          9                 The issue before us is what I shall

         10  refer to henceforth as the "military gay ban", mgb

         11  which is not at all new and was executive branch

         12  policy and regulation for many decades but was only

         13  incorporated into statutory law in 1993 in what is

         14  often inaccurately and colloquially termed, "Don't

         15  Ask, Don't Tell", DADT.  I would strongly recommend

         16  that the wording of resolution 438 be revised to

         17  refer to it as the military gay ban or some similar

         18  terminology rather than this DADT.  This is matter

         19  of very long standing exclusionary policy

         20  originating long before 1993 which should be

         21  addressed explicitly as such in the resolution.

         22                 In that connection, I point out that

         23  those on the other side of this issue, who wish to

         24  retain the military gay ban, view DADT as an

         25  unauthorized and illegal softening of a statutorily
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          2  rigid policy of total exclusion to which they wish

          3  to return and therefore also want to eliminate DADT

          4  for reasons diametrically opposed to ours.  So the

          5  terminology and nomenclature are important.

          6                 I would recommend, second, that the

          7  resolution include a strong specific and explicit

          8  recommendation to Congress to enact and to the

          9  President to sign the recently introduced Meeham

         10  bill repealing the 1993 legislation and ending the

         11  military gay ban.  Congressman Nadler referred to

         12  this.  Resolution 438 is oddly silent on this.  The

         13  gay exclusionary policy has softened somewhat over

         14  the years.  Homosexuality used to result in an

         15  dishonorable discharge or along with criminal

         16  prosecution and incarceration.  Then later in an

         17  undesirable and under general honorable conditions

         18  now usually an honorable.  But the exclusion itself

         19  has remained as rigid as ever over most of a

         20  century.  This is not new.  Whatever the nature of

         21  discharge, gay's are out.

         22                 I have fought that policy for some 40

         23  years and have assisted countless service members

         24  and draftees in seeking to avoid it's invidious

         25  effects.  Of the major gay related issues in which
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          2  I've been involved in that period, it remains the

          3  only one still unresolved.

          4                 I, myself, encountered this policy

          5  first hand when I enlisted in the Army on May 18th,

          6  1943, three days before my 18th birthday at the

          7  height of World War II.  I was asked whether I had

          8   "homosexual tendencies".  I knew that I did and

          9  that in my personal life, even at that age, things

         10  had gone beyond mere tendencies.  As everyone did in

         11  those days on this subject, I lied.  Responded in

         12  the negative.  Was inducted, served for three years

         13  and was honorably discharged in 1946.  But for some

         14  62 years, I have resented and it has rankled that I

         15  had to lie in order to serve my country in my Army

         16  in a war effort which I strongly supported.

         17                 The policy and current law have

         18  consistently stated that "homosexuality is

         19  incompatible with military service".  I dare anyone

         20  to claim to me face to face that my service as a gay

         21  man was detrimental to our war effort.  He might get

         22  a punch in the nose.               Others are

         23  testifying here as to the statistics and other

         24  factual details related to gays in the military.  I

         25  will merely cite illustratively the much publicized
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          2  instance a few years ago of the discharge of gay

          3  Arabic translators.  At a time when the entire

          4  reservoir of such translators were every last one of

          5  them inducted into the service would have been

          6  insufficient to meet the need.  Clearly, to exclude

          7  personnel from our military who have much to offer

          8  gives aid and comfort to our enemies.  But if you

          9  will read your constitution, you will see in Section

         10  Three of Article Three that giving aid and comfort

         11  to the enemy is one of the constitutional

         12  definitions of treason.

         13                 Therefore, I take the position that

         14  any person in any capacity, who in anyway whatever

         15  supports the military gay ban, whether that person

         16  be in or out of uniform, whether in or out of

         17  government and whether that support be through

         18  actual deed or through mere word of mouth, is

         19  constitutionally defined as a traitor and should be

         20  indicted, prosecuted, tried, convicted and hanged

         21  for treason.  I will gladly provide the cost of the

         22  hangman's rope out of my own pocket.

         23                 Now, I want to venture a prediction,

         24  an important one, I think.  It has become extremely

         25  clear that our all volunteer military is being

                                                            24

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  stretched thin and recruitments are not meeting the

          3  need.  Unless things quickly quiet down in Iraq and

          4  no other arenas of U.S. Military involvement arise,

          5  all of which is devoutly to be hoped but is unlikely

          6  to occur, I predict that despite strenuous

          7  disclaimers from both the White House and Congress,

          8  there will be a reactivation of the draft.

          9                 While the draft itself was

         10  deactivated in 1973 or '74, draft boards were

         11  reactivated in 1982 and are still functional.  I,

         12  myself, volunteered, was appointed and served for

         13  the full statutory limit of 20 years from May, 1992

         14  until May, 2002 on my local DC Selective Service

         15  board.  Young men have been and are required to

         16  register at age 18 so the draft machinery is all

         17  there and ready to function, although most of the

         18  public may not quite realize this and if that

         19  reactivation of the draft occurs with the military

         20  gay ban in effect, the draft will collapse and

         21  implode.

         22                 The stigma on homosexuality is vastly

         23  diminished from what it was decades ago or even a

         24  few years ago.  Hoards of draftees will falsely

         25  declare themselves gay in order to avoid service.
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          2  There is absolutely now way to verify such

          3  declarations. The draft will collapse into

          4  uselessness.

          5                 Further, along with anyone wishing to

          6  join me, I will take the publicity road, urging

          7  draftees to lie by falsely declaring themselves gay.

          8    Either we will have a successful draft without the

          9  military gay ban or we will retain the military gay

         10  ban and we will have a failed draft and an

         11  inadequate military.  It is as stark as that.

         12  Approve Resolution 438.

         13                 I wish to close by extending an

         14  invitation to members of the Committee and of the

         15  whole New York City Council and to anyone else

         16  interested.  On every Memorial Day starting in 1980,

         17  after I successfully took the Department of the Army

         18  into court, I have conducted a wreath laying

         19  ceremony at the Tomb of the Unknowns at Arlington

         20  National Cemetery in Virginia under the formal

         21  auspices of the Gay and Lesbian Activists Alliance

         22  of Washington in solemn honor and memory of all of

         23  those who have died in all of our country's wars

         24  including but not limited to the many gay service

         25  members who have so died.
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          2                 Our next such Memorial Day ceremony,

          3  our 26th, is scheduled for 3:15 p.m. This fourth

          4  coming Monday, May 30, 2005. I invited members of

          5  this Committee and any other members of the City

          6  Council of New York and Congressman Nadler and his

          7  colleagues who may so wish and anyone else to attend

          8  and join us at the Tomb of the Unknowns this coming

          9  Memorial Day in remembering and honoring all of

         10  those who have given their lives for our country

         11  including the many gays who have done so.  Thank

         12  you.  I am open to questions if you wish.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         14  much.  We've also been joined by Council Member Lew

         15  Fidler and next to testify will be Christopher Neff

         16  and then after his testimony, we'll be asking

         17  questions.

         18                 MR. NEFF: Following Dr. Kameny is

         19  never possible so I'm just going to move on.

         20  However, if you'll forgive me Frank and I must

         21  disclose to the members of the Council that I'm the

         22  Vice President of the Gay and Lesbian Activist

         23  Alliance as well which Frank founded in 1971 so I'm

         24  going to refer to "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" and

         25  probably take that debate home with me.
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          2                 First, let me thank the Council, Mr.

          3  Chairman and Council Member Gerson for the

          4  invitation to speak today before this Committee.

          5                 It's a privilege to be on this panel

          6  with Dr. Kameny, Congressman Nadler and certainly

          7  Denny Meyer and his great work with the American

          8  Veterans For Equal Rights.  It's also a privilege to

          9  be here with the other veterans and experts

         10  including Major Jeff McGowan.  Their honorable

         11  service to our country continues even after their

         12  tours of duty have ended.

         13                 My name is Christopher Neff.  I am

         14  the Senior Policy Advocate of Servicemembers Legal

         15  Defense Network.  I am responsible for federal

         16  legislation relating to the issue of gays in the

         17  military and more specifically the lobbying efforts

         18  in Congress to repeal the "Don't Ask, Don't Tell"

         19  law.

         20                 For the past 11 years, Servicemembers

         21  Legal Defense Network has provided free legal aid to

         22  active duty U.S. Service men and women impacted by

         23   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell".  To date, SLDN has

         24  answered more than 6,400 calls for help.

         25                 We are also proud to represent 12
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          2  military veterans as plaintiffs in a current Federal

          3  District Court lawsuit challenging the

          4  constitutionality of "Don't Ask, Don't Tell".

          5                 But today there is currently before

          6  you a resolution, 438, to call on Congress and the

          7  Department of Defense to overturn "Don't Ask, Don't

          8  Tell".  On March 2, 2005, a bill was introduced,

          9  that Congressman Nadler discussed, by Mr. Meeham to

         10  repeal "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" and replace it with

         11  an affirmative non- discrimination policy in the

         12  U.S. Military.  This legislation would also allow

         13  some of the estimated 37,757 gay veterans in the

         14  State of New York, of which 17,057 live in the New

         15  York Metropolitan area, the opportunity to apply for

         16  re- enlistment so long as they met other military

         17  qualifications.

         18                 House Resolution 1059, the Military

         19  Readiness Enhancement Act is an effort to make sure

         20  the finest military in the world always has access

         21  to the best and brightest service members in

         22  America.

         23            The facts are clear, "Don't Ask, Don't

         24  Tell" hurts military readiness by forcing out people

         25  who want to serve and can do the job because of
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          2  their sexual orientation.  In the State of New York

          3  25,114 active duty service members have been

          4  mobilized since 9/11.  11,067 total reserve forces

          5  have been activated within that same period of time.

          6    But currently, 7,152 active forces and 4,088 Guard

          7  and Reserve forces are in the field today.  Not only

          8  are some of these patriotic Americans and New

          9  Yorkers gay, and having to lie as a condition

         10  service but some of them are straight and have been

         11  over extended in their tours of duty long after

         12  their time was done.  Kicking out good troops who

         13  want to serve while holding back troops whose

         14  families need them at home is not helping our

         15  military readiness and is hurting our national

         16  security.

         17                 I will close now with a few simple

         18  facts and welcome any questions you may have.

         19  Number one, more than 10,000 service members have

         20  been discharged under "Don't Ask, Don't Tell".  As

         21  the Congressman mentioned at a cost of nearly $200

         22  million.  The law must be changed by Congress.  It

         23  cannot be changed by Executive Order.  Third, the

         24  last respectable theory being used by anyone with

         25  respect to "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" in it and it does
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          2  not hold up is the issue of unit cohesion.

          3                 Major McGowan is probably the most

          4  qualified here to discuss this issue but just in

          5  brief, every military report ever done to prove gays

          6  in the military hurts unit cohesion, has disproved

          7  that gays in the military hurts unit cohesion going

          8  back to 1957.  Four, every other industrialized

          9  nation, as Congressman Nadler mentioned, has lifted

         10  their ban including the fact that 60 percent of all

         11  coalition allied troops on the ground in Iraq come

         12  from nations that allow openly gay and lesbian

         13  service.  It is not a question of should Americans

         14  serve along side openly gay and lesbian troops, it's

         15  a question of where Americans are serving along side

         16  openly gay and lesbian troops.

         17                 And lastly, there are more than one

         18  million gay veterans in America that deserve the

         19  recognition of their service to our country and an

         20  estimated 65,000 active duty guard and reserve

         21  troops serving today.  These men and women are

         22  putting their lives on the line to promote democracy

         23  and freedom across the globe and being discriminated

         24  against by the U.S. Government in return.  I urge

         25  the members of this Committee to adopt Resolution
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          2  438 to strengthen our nation's military readiness

          3  and bring honor to those serving and who have

          4  served.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          6  much.  My first question will go to Congressman

          7  Nadler.  In terms of, where do we stand now in

          8  Congress?  What are the practical obstacles in terms

          9  of passing this piece of legislation?

         10                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Well, we have

         11  anti- Deluvian (phonetic) rules in Congress.

         12  There's no way to force a bill onto the floor.  The

         13  Chairman of the Committee or the Sub- Committee has

         14  to agree to hold a hearing.  The Committee has to

         15  report the bill to as to hold the hearing.  Then a

         16  mark up session in which the bill is considered, it

         17  has to be reported to the floor and then goes to the

         18  floor.  Now, there are procedures under which the

         19  leadership can take a bill right to the floor

         20  without bothering with Committees, as we saw the

         21  other day with the Terri Schiavo bill, it was on the

         22  floor for debate two hours after it was drafted, but

         23  that's the leadership.

         24                 The current leadership of the House,

         25  who consists basically of very conservative
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          2  Republicans, is not interested in this legislation

          3  and in the current political climate, it's not

          4  likely that they will allow a vote.  Now, what we

          5  have to do obviously is put as much pressure on them

          6  as possible through individual members of Congress,

          7  through resolutions such as this which is again why

          8  I'm glad you're considering this resolution, to try

          9  to build up the pressure behind the leadership of

         10  the House to allow a vote, to have a hearing and a

         11  vote.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Now, in terms of

         13  the resolutions on behalf of the body, do we know

         14  how many other large cities have done similar

         15  resolutions?

         16                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Not off the top

         17  of my head.

         18                 MR. MEYER: And I'm not aware of other

         19  specific jurisdictions and since the bill was just

         20  introduced March 2nd, I don't believe there are any

         21  specific to this bill.  However, I can also tell you

         22  that I'm aware of other grassroots mobilizations in

         23  both City Councils and State Legislatures regarding

         24  this specific piece of legislation.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: That was my next
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          2  question.  Is there movement going on to try to get

          3  more municipalities to try, you know, lobby Congress

          4  in order to pass this?

          5                 MR. MEYER: I believe other chapters

          6  of AVER across the country in some cities, I believe

          7  Los Angeles and Columbus, Ohio and perhaps Seattle

          8  have at least inquired about doing this. I think it

          9  has been introduced in several cities as well.

         10                 DR. KAMENY: Might it be appropriate

         11  for this Committee to recommend to fellow cities

         12  across and municipalities across the country that

         13  they do so.  You carry weight in a different sense

         14  from the weight that we carry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you for

         16  that vote of confidence.  Next we'll turn the floor

         17  over to my colleague Council Member Gerson and then

         18  Margarita Lopez and if anybody else has questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think the

         20  testimony has spoken for itself and I'm eager to

         21  hear from the remaining witnesses.  I just want to

         22  thank each of these witnesses, not only for your

         23  testimony, but for your ongoing advocacy and again

         24  I'm always reminded how fortunate we are to have

         25  Jerry Nadler in Congress and how proud I am to call
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          2  him my representative.

          3                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Councilwoman

          5  Lopez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let the record

          7  note, I can be brief.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ (Difficult to

          9  discern due to dialect in language): Due to the fact

         10  that I'm a pacifist and I know my life has been a

         11  person who fight against war (sic) and invasions and

         12  taking over other countries.  This issue has been a

         13  very difficult one for me for many reasons but

         14  saying that, I am very clear that you cannot have

         15  double standards, even when we talk about a

         16  structure that I disagree with, the military.  My --

         17  question is in regard to this, if the "Don't Ask,

         18  Don't Tell" policy will stay in place and the draft

         19  will be put in place, that means that anybody who

         20  admit to be openly gay will not qualify, correct?

         21                 DR. KAMENY: Exactly.

         22                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then if the

         24  persons don't qualify, what that means is that

         25  massively I invite America to become gay.
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          2                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: You may recall

          3  that during the Vietnam War, I think Phil Oakes had

          4  a song called the "Draft Dodger Rag" in which he

          5  said, "Sarge, I'm only 18, I got a ruptured spleen.

          6  I always carry a purse" and every conceivable excuse

          7  to get out of the draft.  Then he said, "When you

          8  get a war without blood and gore, I'll be the first

          9  to serve."

         10                 Yes, obviously, if we have a draft

         11  again which I'm not so sure we will but if we should

         12  have a draft again then gays and if we do not change

         13  this policy then gay and lesbian people would not be

         14  qualified to serve, under law, they would be clearly

         15  qualified serve, they would not be legally qualified

         16  to serve as they are not now and if so, motivated,

         17  certain individuals could get out of the draft by

         18  admitting or claiming their orientation.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I asked the

         20  question just to make clear of the ridiculousness

         21  (sic) of the policy obviously, but my intention in

         22  asking the question is really about what is the

         23  support that Congress will show right now to a

         24  legislation like this, particularly with the

         25  environment that we are leaving in Congress?
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          2                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Right now, I

          3  think that there's clearly a lot more support now

          4  than 12 years ago.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Yes.

          6                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: Having said that

          7  and I do say, I think the climate of the country has

          8  changed with regard to the whole question of sexual

          9  orientation and discrimination against gay, lesbian,

         10  transgender and bisexual people greatly for the

         11  better in the last 12 years.  Having said that,

         12  Congress is not a democratic institution with a

         13  small "d".

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Tell me about

         15  it.

         16                 CONGRESSMAN NADLER: You can't get a

         17  vote unless the leadership allows a vote either

         18  through committee or through the exercise of direct

         19  leadership power.  The current leadership is not

         20  about to allow this kind of bill to come to a vote.

         21  So, until the political climate changes drastically

         22  where they feel real pressure to bring it to a vote

         23  or until the leadership has changed, perhaps by the

         24  next election, we're not likely to get a vote.

         25                 But I always say that there's nothing
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          2  wrong with Congress, there's plenty wrong with

          3  Congress but there's nothing wrong with Congress

          4  that one good election couldn't solve and this could

          5  be part of that.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, in

          7  conclusion, I just want to thank each and everyone

          8  of you who has served in the military to represent

          9  my right to be respected and being a citizen of the

         10  United States where the law is what -- and I know

         11  that you sacrifices have been bigger than anybody

         12  else (sic).  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Seeing no other

         14  questions on behalf of the Committee -- Gentlemen, I

         15  want to thank you for very valuable testimony.

         16  Thank you.  Next we have with us and unfortunately

         17  we do have to put everybody on the clock now because

         18  we are running behind and at 10:30 we have to go to

         19  the next portion which is joint with Finance, so

         20  next we have James P. Reilly, Jeffrey McGowan,

         21  Leslie Deutsch and Jason Cianciotto and the time

         22  clock is a three minute time clock and you may

         23  proceed in the order in which you decide.  Okay, so

         24  I guess James will be first, Jeffrey second, Leslie

         25  third and Jason last.
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          2                 MR. REILLY: Thank you, Chairman

          3  Rivera.  Considering the time, I have submitted a

          4  copy of Lieutenant Colonel Allan Bishop's article.

          5  It's in there and I will edit my remarks to meet the

          6  time.

          7                 First, thank you for these hearings

          8  and thank you to Alan Gerson for introducing this

          9  long, overdue and necessary resolution.  My name is

         10  James Reilly.  I'm a native New Yorker, a resident

         11  of the Borough of Queens.  At the age of 17, I quit

         12  school, volunteered for the United States Navy and I

         13  volunteered for the submarine service.  I served

         14  honorably but not exceptionally.  I was no Alexander

         15  the Great, no Roman Emperor Hadrian, no Sergeant

         16  Lennon Matlovich, no Colonel Kalamire (phonetic).

         17  All of whom served as exceptional gay, lesbian or

         18  bisexual military leaders.

         19                 I was a blue jacket.  The resolution

         20  represents and honors all of the average rank and

         21  file gay, lesbian, bisexual service members.  The

         22  blue jackets, the dog faces, the gyrenes, the

         23  grunts, the fliers who served in silence and all of

         24  us whom chose to serve.  Two little words could have

         25  gotten anyone of us out of the service, if, like our
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          2  Vice President, we had more important things to do

          3  than serve our country but we chose to serve just as

          4  thousands of patriotic gay, lesbian, bisexual

          5  Americans choose to serve today in harms way.

          6                 That service should not only be

          7  allowed but welcomed, honored and protected by law.

          8  We the people of the United States of America

          9  believe all men are created equal.  Our American

         10  Armed Forces are charged with defending and

         11  upholding our Constitution and our Declaration of

         12  Independence that contains those sacred words.

         13  Hypocritically violating equality with Nuremburg-

         14  like laws such as the blatantly, discriminatory

         15   "Don't Ask, Don't Tell".  It's not only

         16  unconscionable but unconstitutional.  I urge you to

         17  stand up today for real American values and approve

         18  this resolution.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, James. Next, we will hear from Jeffrey

         21  McGowan.

         22                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Let me begin by

         23  thanking all of you for taking your time to hear us

         24  testify.  My name is Major Jeffrey McGowan.  I'm a

         25  native New Yorker.  I grew up in Jackson Heights and
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          2  I went to Fordham.  I served on active duty for ten

          3  years in various units.  I began in the Third

          4  Armored Division in the Artillery.  I came back to

          5  the States after serving there and going through

          6  Gulf War One to the 82nd Airborne Division where I

          7  jumped out of perfectly good planes and to this day,

          8  I still don't know why I did that because it's kind

          9  of silly to jump out of perfectly good planes but

         10  that was the mission and I did it.

         11                 So, what I'm hoping to do for you

         12  this afternoon is to put a human face on what it is

         13  this really means because I think if you have not

         14  served in the military, you can listen to all of the

         15  facts and figures and it doesn't really resonate

         16  with you if you don't understand exactly what this

         17  is all about and I want to begin by highlighting one

         18  word for you which I think you should keep uppermost

         19  in your mind when you think about this issue and

         20  that word is integrity.  What does integrity mean to

         21  you?

         22                 Now, in the last decade, we spent the

         23  better part of a year hounding a president because

         24  he lied over a blue dress, because he had a

         25  violation of integrity.  Where ever you came out on
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          2  that issue, we certainly made a huge issue of it and

          3  it absorbed the nation's consciousness.  So, I say

          4  that because it should also then strike you as a bit

          5  odd that we have a policy where we have people being

          6  asked to lie about who they are, on the books.  You

          7  can serve, just so long as you don't say who you are

          8  and what you're about.

          9                 Now, as somebody who has served our

         10  country for a very, very long time, well over a

         11  decade, I have to tell you that it is an enormously

         12  galling thing to have to go through when all you're

         13  trying to do is to do the right thing.  Get up every

         14  day, go to work, be responsible, lead your troops,

         15  do your job.  You want to be honest and proud but

         16  you can't be because you have to lie and that's the

         17  official policy.  You will lie if you want to be

         18  here. All your hard work, all of your effort means

         19  nothing if we find out.

         20                 Now, I don't know of anybody in

         21  today's world who can sit there seriously and think

         22  that that is an acceptable way to conduct public

         23  policy or to interact with people on a regular

         24  basis.  When we talk about unit cohesion, right,

         25  what are we talking about?  We're talking about
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          2  people being able to trust one another because

          3  they're being shot at.  They're getting hurt.  They

          4  may lose their lives for this great dream which is

          5  America.  Look up just for a second, "A government

          6  of the people, by the people and for the people",

          7  right?

          8                 Beautiful, beautiful sentiments but

          9  not for everybody apparently because we have to lie

         10  to be who we are just to be there and the great

         11  thing about gay Americans is they make that

         12  sacrifice.  It's now our turn to work towards

         13  changing that here.  So let me bring you back.  It's

         14  very important to remember that our service depends

         15  on the ability of one another to trust completely

         16  who's to your right and who's to your left and if

         17  you can't do that, you're going to have a break down

         18  in unit cohesion.             People, once they know

         19  who you are, it doesn't matter.  For ten years, I

         20  watched an army that was filled with African

         21  Americans, Asians, Latinos, gay, straight, whatever.

         22    The entire panoply of American stood in those

         23  ranks in front of me.  I commanded them and I led

         24  them in battle and I led them in peace time and they

         25  were able to be there and to do their jobs because
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          2  they were just honest about who they were and if you

          3  grew up out west and you never met an African

          4  American before, it wasn't a bad thing when they did

          5  meet.  It wasn't a bad thing when you had an Asian

          6  kid next to a Latino kid.

          7                 Why?  Because they were all united by

          8  a one color uniform and that uniform was green and

          9  so we come to the table here folks, and make no

         10  mistake about this, all right and I want each one of

         11  you to understand this, this is about our common

         12  love of this country.  We believe in America.

         13  That's why we serve.  Remember, "of the people and

         14  for the people".  That means all the people, not

         15  just Republicans, not just Democrats who happen to

         16  be straight and want to serve.  It means everybody

         17  and if it's going to work, we're going to be in it

         18  together or you're going to have what Dr. Kameny

         19  predicts in the event of a draft and it starts here.

         20                 The power of the New York City

         21  Council because what you're doing today is you are

         22  being leaders.  You are standing up for what is

         23  right.  Period and if it takes the New York City

         24  Council to be first in line to do that, more power

         25  to you because we have, for too long, abdicated our
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          2  responsibilities to show our just anger at a

          3  discriminatory and unfair policy.

          4                 In view of that, I laud you all and I

          5  hope that you make the amendments that Dr. Kameny so

          6  eloquently articulated in his testimony to you and I

          7  hope that you are able to continue the fight to

          8  bring everyone to the table because we are

          9  ultimately a country that does better when we pull

         10  everybody in and give them an opportunity to

         11  participate and share their talent.  Not when we

         12  have a situation where we push people into the

         13  closet, into poor neighborhoods and marginalize

         14  them.

         15                 We want every single kid in this

         16  country to grow up to be fully realized in every

         17  aspect of their talent and we can never, ever lose

         18  sight of that and that's what this policy does.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         20  much, Jeffrey. Next, we have Leslie Deutsch.

         21                 MS. DEUTSCH: Thank you, Council

         22  members for giving me the opportunity today to

         23  testify.  My name is Leslie Deutsch. I served in the

         24  military for over 20 years, in the United States

         25  military.  I started off as an E0, nothing on my
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          2  sleeve.  I went through the enlisted ranks.  I was

          3  active duty for many years and after ten years, I

          4  went to law school and I applied for a Direct

          5  Commission to be a JAG Officer and in my last ten

          6  years, I was a military JAG Officer.

          7                 I served mostly in the 4th JAG but I

          8  was also assigned to 101st Airborne, a cavalry unit

          9  and I served in many places around the world so I'm

         10  a lesbian survivor of "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" and

         11  all the policies before that.  And let me just start

         12  with this, I just want to say that serving for over

         13  20 years in the United States military, I always

         14  believed in the Bill of Rights and the Constitution.

         15    I did not serve for over 20 years defending the

         16  Bible and I feel the discrimination that is against

         17  gay people is based on old fashioned, dark ages

         18  mentality.

         19                 We are not sub- human human beings.

         20  We are people and we have served honorably in many

         21  difficult positions and our reward was to be

         22  discharged if we were found out.  How many people

         23  were discharged?  Just look at how many interpreters

         24  were discharged.  So what was our policy?  The

         25  policy was not national security, above all, the
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          2  policy was bigotry that was put forth ahead of

          3  national security.

          4                 How many foot soldiers did we lose?

          5  How many doctors?  How many lawyers?  How many

          6  soldiers?  I don't even want to begin to guess.

          7  Then there are the ones that are not found out that

          8  are serving.  So many, they give their ultimate

          9  lives.  Many are amputees and the disgrace is they

         10  are not rewarded for it. They are the most

         11  discriminated class.

         12                 In the military, the most

         13  economically disadvantaged, discriminated classes

         14  carry biggest burdens of this society, meaning the

         15  blacks, Hispanics and of the women who are serving,

         16  disproportionately are lesbians but lesbians are

         17  even in a more discriminated class.  They're not

         18  even allowed into the military where the

         19  discriminated classes are mostly serving.

         20                 I just want to say that it is also

         21  not democratic. We are supposed to be the light into

         22  the nations, spreading democracy, spending billions

         23  of dollars on democracy, losing United States

         24  soldiers and how many amputees are coming back

         25  allegedly spreading democracy but we are not a
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          2  democracy.  We discriminate and the enlightened,

          3  progressive nations that allow gays to serve see the

          4  absolute hypocrisy.

          5                 I would also like to say that, on a

          6  personal level, gay people have to walk an extremely

          7  fine line when they're serving.  I feared my

          8  colleagues more than the enemy, many times. I have

          9  to be the superb soldier.  So much work was put on

         10  me and I was always frightened to even say a word

         11  because I didn't want to be outed so I had to be

         12  this superior soldier.

         13                 Yet, when it came time for

         14  promotions, evaluations and awards, I had to keep a

         15  very low profile because I was afraid my colleagues

         16  would point a finger and say, "She's a lesbian" and

         17  you know what, they wouldn't have to dig too far to

         18  find out.  I could play softball.  Yes, and all the

         19  other things that lesbians stereotypically can do so

         20  I always walked an extremely fine line and it's very

         21  stressful and it's distracting and I couldn't be the

         22  super soldier that I could have been but I did

         23  survive and I don't know how being a lesbian for 20

         24  years in the military.

         25                 Let me also say that it also
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          2  discriminates against this policy of "Don't Ask,

          3  Don't Tell", discriminates against lesbians and gay

          4  people tremendously.  I can give you an example. I

          5  was a member of the 4th JAG for a very long time and

          6  before the Bosnia deployment, the Commanding Officer

          7  called each and every single one of us into his room

          8  privately and asked about circumstances.

          9                 Of course, I couldn't tell him my

         10  personal circumstances.  I had a lover at home and I

         11  couldn't describe my circumstances.  So, on paper I

         12  always look like Class One deployable because I'm

         13  single even though that might not have been true.

         14  So, I'm always deployable and I was always deployed

         15  and when, of course, the Commander would say, "Oh

         16  the people who were selected to go over seas and

         17  deployed into harms way were selected because of

         18  their skills.  But that's not really true if you

         19  really looked who was actually selected to go, it

         20  was all the people who were single.  Meaning without

         21  husbands or wives or without children.

         22                 So number one, gay people carry a

         23  huge burden, we're always deployed and number two,

         24  we get the harder assignments so I feel we carry a

         25  tremendous burden and we serve very patriotically

                                                            49

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  and we carry more of the burden that I would guess

          3  to venture our hetero counterparts.

          4                 I would also like to say that

          5  regarding finances. We don't get dependents pay.  I

          6  can give you another example.  I have a twin sister,

          7  identical twin sister, who also is in the military

          8  as long as me, 20 years.  After 9/11, we were both

          9  called up to active duty.  Anybody with a green

         10  uniform, I'm sure was called.  So, her

         11  circumstances, she had just given birth to a baby

         12  boy.  Her partner who she had been partnered with

         13  for over ten years had just given birth to a baby

         14  girl.  This was in 2001.

         15                 Meanwhile, they were all covered

         16  under New York State Domestic Partnership health

         17  benefits under my sister's health plan but when she

         18  got called up, she lost all the health benefits from

         19  the New York State job and her partner lost the New

         20  York State benefits and so did one of the children.

         21  So here's my sister serving for the United States

         22  freedoms and rights and benefits and her own

         23  children lost health care benefits and so did her

         24  partner.

         25                 Those are the effects, the personal
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          2  effects that "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" causes.

          3  Tremendous stress to gay families, especially ones

          4  that have partners and children that were not

          5  adopted.  Bear in mind, they would have adopted and

          6  they have the adoption process going however that

          7  takes time.  The children were born in 2001 and

          8  September 11th was in 2001.  I'm sure I don't need

          9  to remind anybody.

         10                 Let me also say that also medical

         11  health care, gay people suffer tremendously.  I

         12  could never go to a health care professional for any

         13  reason and disclose my true status.  I also couldn't

         14  even go for ob/gyn health care because I couldn't

         15  state what kind status I was in.  So gay people

         16  suffer tremendously regarding health care in the

         17  military.

         18                 And I just also want to say that

         19  regarding trust and loyalty.  There were many times

         20  that I didn't even want to get into a car because I

         21  was afraid of the small talk.  The older I got, the

         22  more difficult it was to pass.  When I was 20 years

         23  old, I could be single and unmarried and it would

         24  not be suspicious.  However, as you approach older

         25  age, then you're always a target.

                                                            51

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: In the interest

          3  of time, can you summarize --

          4                 MS. DEUTSCH: Yes, I will.  I just

          5  want to say that it is the most discriminated

          6  classes that carry the biggest burdens of the

          7  society and gays and lesbians are part of the most

          8  discriminated class of this society and they serve

          9  in tremendous numbers and they should receive equal

         10  benefits and I'm here today to speak for all those

         11  lesbians and gay people who are dying on the

         12  battlefield becoming amputees in Iraq and

         13  Afghanistan.  They come back and they receive very

         14  little benefits.  Their partners receive no benefits

         15  and even if they died, their partner would receive

         16  zero.  Their benefits go back into the pot to reward

         17  the heterosexuals and that's what happens with the

         18  military pension with a gay person.

         19            I'll finalize with saying, it's

         20  interesting to me that during peace time, now

         21  everyone is considering allowing gays and lesbians

         22  to serve.  The same thing happened during World War

         23  II. Blacks were allowed to serve only when the

         24  United States was desperate and then afterward, then

         25  the discrimination, the backlash occurs.  I feel
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          2  that gays and lesbians do serve and they should be

          3  allowed to get all the benefits that they do deserve

          4  and I just hope that this not just used during war

          5  time and I hope in peace time that you really stand

          6  up for the right thing.  Defend the Constitution and

          7  the Bill of Rights and not the Bible.  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much.  Last speaker on this panel will be Jason

         10  Cianciotto.

         11                 MR. CIANCIOTTO: Thank you very much.

         12  My name is Jason Cianciotto and I am the Research

         13  Director at the National Gay and Lesbian Task Force

         14  Policy Institute.  I'm also a native New Yorker,

         15  born in Staten Island and it's an honor to be

         16  testifying before you today.  I can tell by the

         17  crowd that just came in that we're short on time and

         18  I promise that I'll be brief.

         19            It's an honor to be wrapping up this

         20  discussion because the importance of the information

         21  discussed today is really embodied by a quote that

         22  I'd like to share with you today from our founding

         23  father, James Madison who wrote that "a popular

         24  government, without popular information, or the

         25  means of acquiring it, is but a prologue to a farce

                                                            53

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  or a tragedy.  People who mean to be their own

          3  governors must arm themselves with the power which

          4  knowledge gives."

          5                 And there's certainly been a lot of

          6  knowledge shared today by today's panelists.  We've

          7  had almost 13 years of this experiment of "Don't

          8  Ask, Don't Tell", all this data and all this

          9  information, all this research is now available to

         10  inform legislators, policy makers like yourselves

         11  and the American public and it's time to review and

         12  take another look at this policy and I stand with my

         13  colleagues today in calling for this policy to be

         14  repealed.

         15                 I'd also would like to draw from that

         16  knowledge very briefly and discuss some work we've

         17  recently been doing at the Task Force Policy

         18  Institute that's very relevant to today's

         19  discussion. We've been analyzing data from the 2000

         20  U.S. Census.  In particular, on black same sex

         21  households and we found some really fascinating

         22  findings relevant to military service which the

         23  census data collects and that is that black lesbian

         24  women are 11 times more likely to report being

         25  veterans than all other women nationwide.  That's 11
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          2  times.

          3                 And we just heard from the Major,

          4  more personal stories about the impact of minorities

          5  within minorities.  The impact of lesbian and black

          6  lesbian women of what happens when they're

          7  discharged.  The 2000 Census data also tells us that

          8  these women are just as likely to be parenting

          9  children as black, married opposite sex households

         10  and as the Major pointed out, the impact on their

         11  children of losing healthcare, of losing a secure

         12  retirement is immense and is a shame.

         13                 So in closing, I'd like to return

         14  your thoughts to the wisdom imparted by our founding

         15  father, James Madison 180 years ago.  "This wealth

         16  of information is yours", as Representative Nadler

         17  says the American Congress is to draw upon and

         18  honestly assess the impact and efficacy of this

         19  policy and it's very clear based on that

         20  information, that it's time for the President and

         21  Congress to repeal "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" and allow

         22  gay, lesbian, bisexuals veterans to serve openly and

         23  honestly.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         25  much, Jason.  I know Council Member Alan Gerson has

                                                            55

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  a question.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: One question,

          4  that'll be it added but first two very, very brief

          5  comments.  First of all, I need to take exception to

          6  part of the testimony of my good friend, James

          7  Reilly when he referred to himself as "less than

          8  exceptional".  I was not around during the time of

          9  your service in the Armed Forces though I think

         10  every grunt is exceptional just by being a grunt.

         11  But secondly, I do know you well enough, in your

         12  current service to humanity and you, indeed sir, are

         13  a very exceptional human being in the most positive

         14  sense.

         15                 Secondly, I just and need to make the

         16  point that in urging the jettisoning of "Don't Ask,

         17  Don't Tell", I don't think that I'm confident that

         18  we do not have to undermine anyone's faith or faith

         19  traditions and we can certainly have a cadre of

         20  service persons who are fighting for the Biblical

         21  antecedents of our democracy at the same time as we

         22  support non- discrimination in our armed forces.

         23                 As a matter of fact, I would draw an

         24  analogy.  Just as we have in our armed forces a

         25  variety of religious faiths represented, and as I
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          2  recall from my time in the service as part of our

          3  training, we teach our service members to be

          4  respectful of our different faiths and faith

          5  traditions and beliefs and I believe that we can, in

          6  fact, discipline a service member for any act or

          7  even, in same cases, statements that are not, well,

          8  that reflect or evince discrimination.

          9                 So to, it seems to me, we should

         10  demand a similar acceptance and tolerance of people

         11  of the variety of sexual orientations and that's my

         12  segue to my question which I will direct to the

         13  Commanders.  From the standpoints strictly of battle

         14  effectiveness and unit cohesion, putting aside all

         15  considerations of fairness and justice but given the

         16  fact that straights and gays serve side by side in

         17  harms way, do we not promote a more effective

         18  fighting force with greater unit cohesion by

         19  acknowledging reality and insisting that every

         20  service members see their comrade as green, in the

         21  sense of their green uniform, although it may be

         22  grey in desert camouflage but just as we train our

         23  young men and women who may come from backgrounds,

         24  for example, to pick up on the faith example, of a

         25  strong religious faith that may look down upon a
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          2  different religious faith, we train them in the

          3  armed service to see their comrades as, you know,

          4  equals in green for the purpose of battlefield

          5  preparedness for the purposes of unit cohesion,

          6  aren't we a stronger, more effective fighting force

          7  if we are up front and honest and open and teach our

          8  soldiers, while they may have their own beliefs, but

          9  to be fully accepting and to be fully comrades in

         10  green for the common cause with respect to the

         11  sexual orientation? From the standpoints of

         12  effectiveness and unit cohesion, are we not better

         13  off getting rid of "Don't Ask, Don't Tell" in other

         14  words?

         15                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Leaders shape the

         16  culture of their institutions by articulating a

         17  vision and they set up steps in order to achieve

         18  that vision.  Part of that is setting a standard of

         19  acceptable conduct and what will not be tolerated.

         20  That is not, so it's not a democracy and the key

         21  here is to remember that when you say everyone will

         22  serve, that becomes the standard and if you can't

         23  buy into that standard, then you cannot serve

         24  effectively.

         25                 I mean, it wasn't by popular acclaim
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          2  that there was integration in the 50s.  In fact,

          3  there was a lot of gnashing of teeth about it but at

          4  the time, the leadership of the Army and the

          5  President and in Congress said, "This is going to

          6  happen.  We will not tolerate anything less than

          7  that" and you know what, for 50 years, we've had

          8  integrated units.  Has there been an occasional

          9  hiccup?  Of course, that's what happens when you

         10  have a lot of different people serving alongside of

         11  one another.

         12                 You have to continually talk about

         13  the things that unite us rather than divide us but

         14  that's what leaders do.  Leaders are active not

         15  passive and so I think it's very important to say

         16  that first of all, we have to be willing to stand up

         17  and articulate that vision.  A vision where our

         18  entire society is a part of all of our institutions

         19  and that it will not ever be acceptable for them,

         20  for us or anyone group to say that another group is

         21  not good enough.

         22                 If they can meet the standard,

         23  meaning they can shoot their weapon, they can do the

         24  number of push ups, sit ups, they have no medical

         25  conditions which is a problem, they can obey orders,
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          2  they can see whatever it is in their specific, you

          3  know, specialty, then that is sufficient for service

          4  and that we should welcome them because in a day and

          5  age where we have a crisis brewing on every single

          6  continent around the planet right now, and we seem

          7  to have a far more activist foreign policy than

          8  we've ever had in the past, it might be smart for us

          9  to say, "Listen, we're going to take the best

         10  because they're willing to step forward."

         11                 MS. DEUTSCH: I would just like to add

         12  to that that I have heard this argument so much

         13  before today.  This very same argument prevented

         14  black people from serving in the military.  It

         15  prevented women from serving in the military and it

         16  just rewards the bigotry by discriminating against

         17  those classes and it's about time to stop rewarding

         18  the people who oppress and discriminate and it's

         19  about time to really stand for democracy.  We are

         20  all over the planet saying we are for democracy and

         21  we don't even practice it here and it's about time

         22  we bring it home.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, we do have

         24  two more people to testify on this panel and then we

         25  also have a question from Council Member Margarita
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          2  Lopez and another hearing right after so we do have

          3  to pick up the pace so Margarita, it's your turn and

          4  then we'll call the two last panelists.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just have a

          6  clarification on the question of African American

          7  women or black women, you used the name black women.

          8    Is it that you don't want to identify them as

          9  African American because it's from different Afro

         10  descent?

         11                 MR. CIANCIOTTO: The use of that

         12  particular label was a result of how the census --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Reported?

         14                 MR. CIANCIOTTO: -- Reported.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then we don't

         16  know, we don't know if they could be Afro-

         17  Caribbean?

         18                 MR. CIANCIOTTO: That's a very good

         19  question and actually, I, by the end of the summer,

         20  we're going to be putting out a similar study on

         21  Hispanic and Latino same sex households in the 2000

         22  Census and I'm very interested in seeing what the

         23  data shows for that.  We recently put out a study

         24  for the State of Florida where we found that

         25  Hispanic and Latina women were six times more likely
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          2  than other women in the state and nationwide to

          3  report that they were military veterans.  So we are

          4  seeing similar trends and I'll be happy to share

          5  that with you and your office when the report comes

          6  out.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay.  That

          8  will be important information for us to have.  It's

          9  my understanding that you wrote a book?

         10                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Yes, I didn't want to

         11  toot my horn on that but --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: What is the

         13  name of the book?

         14                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Major Conflict.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you have it

         16  with you?

         17                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Major Conflict.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: May I see it?

         19                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: It is a "One gay man's

         20  life in the Don't Ask, Don't Tell military" and it's

         21  published by --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: No, just give

         23  it to him for him to hold it.

         24                 MAJOR MCGOWAN:   -- It's published by

         25  Broadway Books which is a division of Random House
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          2  and it basically talks about my career and

          3  experiences in the military.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And what is the

          5  name of the book?

          6                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Major Conflict.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay and this

          8  book gives insight into your own experience of what

          9  happened to you there?

         10                 MAJOR MCGOWAN: Yes.  It basically

         11  shows me in context and how I was able to serve, how

         12  I was able to, you know, navigate all of these

         13  issues that we've talked about.  You know, the

         14  questions about integrity and sort of being able to

         15  deal with, you know, how I interacted with other

         16  people.  I offered because I think, you know, when

         17  you get lost in the facts here, I mean, there's

         18  always another policy paper out there for you to

         19  read and I'm sure --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But it's

         21  important to have information in regard where people

         22  can get information in this issue (sic) in

         23  particular connected to the life of people inside of

         24  the military and what they suffer as a consequence

         25  of this policy. Then this book is important to let
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          2  people know that exists and I want thank you for

          3  writing it.

          4                 My last comment is to the Major?

          5                 MS. DEUTSCH: Major, yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I just want to

          7  tell you that in this side of the aisle, in this

          8  aisle of Council members, openly gay women play

          9  hardball in here and I am one of those.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, thank you

         11  very much ladies and gentlemen.  We appreciate your

         12  testimony.  Last but not least, Billiam

         13  VanRoestenberg and unfortunately, Reverend Pat did

         14  have to step out for another engagement so she will

         15  not be testifying but we have Billiam

         16  VanRoestenberg.

         17                 MR. VAN ROESTENBERG: Good afternoon.

         18  This will be very brief.  Basically, it's a small

         19  story from a boy who grew up in New York, myself.  I

         20  love my country.  I love New York.  My husband

         21  Jeffrey, Major McGowan and I bought a farm upstate

         22  New York, outside of New Paltz.  I've been an

         23  activist my whole life since I had to sign my name,

         24  make a contract with this great country of ours, to

         25  go into the draft.  That is to say, I would sign a
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          2  contract and I would go fight war and even die for

          3  my fellow countrymen and family with pride and

          4  honor.

          5                 I'm here today to plead with you to

          6  pass this resolution.  Be on the, what some might

          7  say, the right side.  I say the correct side of

          8  history.  It's an historic time in our country.

          9  We're doing many great things and we should be proud

         10  and it's an honor to be here in New York City with

         11  you and you could be the first on the correct side

         12  of history so I thank you for your time, very much.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         14                 MR. VAN ROESTENBERG: Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         16  much.  This closes off this portion of our hearing

         17  on the State and Federal Legislation.  We want to

         18  thank everybody who came to testify and at this

         19  point in time, I will reopen the State and Federal

         20  Legislation Committee jointly with the Finance

         21  Committee in reference to the MSG.  So again, I am

         22  happy to join with my colleague Dave Weprin and the

         23  Finance Committee to open this portion of our

         24  hearing examining the purpose and effectiveness of

         25  the tax exemption granted to Madison Square Garden.

                                                            65

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  MSG was granted a full property tax exemption in the

          3  year of 1982.

          4                 The state of concern of the Koch

          5  Administration at the time was the possible loss of

          6  the City of the New York Knicks and the New York

          7  Rangers as a result of escalating costs of labor,

          8  taxation and energy.  The Administration also argued

          9  that MSG provided tremendous benefits to the City as

         10  a cultural institution, as a venue for numerous

         11  events such as the circus, musical concerts and

         12  political conventions and as an engine of job

         13  creation.

         14                 Today, we would like to take

         15  testimony as to whether the reasons and conditions

         16  for granting this tax exemption still prevail but

         17  before we proceed let me cede the floor to my

         18  colleague Dave Weprin.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Chair

         20  Rivera.  I'm David Weprin, Chair of the Finance

         21  Committee and I am pleased to be participating in a

         22  joint hearing with the State and Federal Legislation

         23  Committee on the real property tax exemption

         24  currently granted to Madison Square Garden.

         25                 I would like to add to my colleague,
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          2  Joel Rivera's comments.  The City offers property

          3  tax exemptions to encourage economic development and

          4  business and job retention.  However, these

          5  exemptions are granted for finite periods of time.

          6  Madison Square Garden has been given a unique

          7  exemption that does not sunset so long as the sports

          8  teams play their home games in that facility.

          9                 In effect, the City is treating the

         10  Garden like a not- for- profit institution.  This

         11  means that Cablevision receives the property tax

         12  break every year no matter how they are doing

         13  financially and the City loses approximately $12

         14  million in revenue each year.  Even in years when it

         15  is struggling to close huge budget gaps, as we have

         16  in the last few budget cycles, it is interesting

         17  that Madison Square Garden was given this tax break

         18  so that the sports teams that play there would not

         19  leave New York and now, ironically, the company is

         20  spending millions and millions of dollars to keep

         21  another sports team out of the City, namely the

         22  Jets.

         23                 It is interesting that the owner of

         24  Madison Square Garden, Cablevision, feels that it

         25  can deny free speech and sensor those whose message
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          2  it does not agree with by denying legitimate ads on

          3  their airwaves.  Apparently, the owners of Madison

          4  Square Garden believe they are entitled to special

          5  treatment above and beyond that for which they may

          6  deserve.

          7                 New Yorkers love their sports teams

          8  but in my opinion, MSG has had it's special

          9  treatment for long enough.  It is time to return a

         10  sense of freedom, of competition to this sector of

         11  the City's economy.  It is time to sunset Madison

         12  Square Garden's property tax exemption.  The City

         13  could use the additional tax revenue to help fund

         14  services that have been vulnerable to cuts. The

         15  money could be used to reduce elementary school

         16  class size, restore library services and expand

         17  childcare slots for working families.

         18                 Wouldn't those options be better than

         19  giving the money to a company that is currently not

         20  playing fair?  I'm glad to have this opportunity to

         21  discuss this issue today.  There was a resolution

         22  that we're considering that was introduced over a

         23  year go by Council Member Helen Sears in the Finance

         24  Committee and I'd like to call upon Council Member

         25  Sears for a statement.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you,

          3  Chair and I want to thank my colleagues Joel Rivera

          4  and David Weprin for having this hearing.  This

          5  hearing was inspired by Resolution 277 proposing

          6  that the real property tax exemption of Madison

          7  Square Garden be terminated.

          8                 First, I would like to make it very

          9  clear that my stance is not meant to be a punitive

         10  measure against Cablevision, the owner of MSG nor is

         11  it related to the West Side Stadium controversy.

         12  The fact is the Fleet Center in Boston and the

         13  United Center in Chicago pay their real property

         14  taxes and Madison Square Garden should do the same.

         15                 When I first introduced this

         16  resolution in the spring of 2003 as with another

         17  number, I advocated at that time that the revenue

         18  generated be used to keep the firehouses open.  If

         19  you all recall at that time, we were going through

         20  such budget cuts and we had to close several

         21  firehouses.  From 1968 to 1982, the Garden paid real

         22  property taxes.  Since 1982, Madison Square Garden

         23  has benefitted greatly from this exemption.

         24                 In 2004, the Independent Budge Office

         25  estimated that adjusted to inflation, the cumulative
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          2  value of the exemption since it was enacted,

          3  exceeded $200 million and I'd like to say if you all

          4  recall, we had to raise property taxes to 18 1/2

          5  percent which nobody wanted to do because we had to

          6  meet that big deficit after 9/11 so all of you

          7  should keep that in mind when we think about the

          8  $200 million.

          9                 In fiscal year, 2004 the IBO

         10  estimated the tax exemption to be $11.4 million, as

         11  Chair David Weprin said, $12 million.  As you all

         12  know, Madison Square Garden owns two professional

         13  sports teams the New York Knicks and the New York

         14  Rangers as well as it's own television network.  The

         15  Garden receives all revenue from tickets,

         16  concessions, cable advertising from sporting events

         17  as well as rent and concession revenue from

         18  concerts, theatrical productions, ice shows and the

         19  circus and let's not forget it's arena and theater.

         20                 Throughout these years, the Garden

         21  has also benefitted from City services which we must

         22  not forget such as extra police for events, fire,

         23  ems, sanitation and environmental protection.  This

         24  exemption was originally granted to help insure that

         25  Madison Square Garden would continue to serve as the
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          2  home for our professional and college sports teams

          3  and thereby bringing economic benefits to the City.

          4                 At this point, it is very clear that

          5  they wish to stay.  We also supported them when they

          6  were renovating Madison Square Garden.  That was a

          7  long time ago.  It is now ready for Madison Square

          8  Garden to pay their due.  Everybody in this City

          9  does.  I don't think there's a person in this room

         10  that gets a tax exemption.  It is time that Madison

         11  Square Garden has to step up to the plate and meet

         12  their responsibilities as we all do for the fiscal

         13  stability of this City.  Thank you, Mr Chair and

         14  thank you, --.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         16  much, Council Member Sears.  I also just want to let

         17  everybody know, if you're looking to testify today,

         18  you do have to submit your name with the Sergeant of

         19  Arms so that we can have your name for the record.

         20  At this point in time, I would like to start the

         21  proceedings.

         22                 We have, before I begin, let me

         23  introduce the members that are here with us today.

         24  In front of us here on the dais, we have Council

         25  Member Christine Quinn, Council Member Helen Sears,
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          2  Council Member and Majority Whip Leroy Comrie.  To

          3  my left, we have Councilwoman Maria Baez, Council

          4  Member Joe Addabbo, Council Member Jim Gennaro, our

          5  Chair of the Finance Committee, David Weprin.  To my

          6  right, we have Council Member Lew Fidler and we have

          7  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano directly in back of

          8  us.

          9                 Maybe she's running for public

         10  advocate in 2009. Now, let's start the proceedings.

         11  We have Cablevision will be the first to testify, we

         12  have Kevin B. McGrath to come forward.  Thank you

         13  very much, Mr. McGrath.  You have testimony being

         14  distributed to the members.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Also, Mr. McGrath

         16  if you could identify your formal position on behalf

         17  of Cablevision.  Your title and legal capacity.

         18                 MR. MCGRATH: Chairman Weprin,

         19  Chairman Rivera and members of the Committees.  My

         20  name is Kevin B. McGrath and I am appearing on

         21  behalf of Madison Square Garden.  I'm partner in the

         22  law firm of Philips Nizer 666 Fifth Avenue New York,

         23  New York.  I appreciate this opportunity to provide

         24  the Committees with relevant information regarding

         25  the economic benefits provided to the City by the
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          2  continued presence of Madison Square Garden and it's

          3  teams, the Knicks, the Rangers and the Liberty in

          4  this City.

          5                 As you are aware, the property tax

          6  exemption provided to Madison Square Garden is being

          7  provided pursuant to an agreement reached more than

          8  20 years ago, prior to Cablevision's acquisition of

          9  Madison Square Garden and it's teams, to retain the

         10  teams, the Knicks and the Ranges in the City.

         11                 Madison Square Garden remains a

         12  committed member of the community today, providing

         13  jobs and economic benefits for the City that far

         14  surpass those of 1982.  Madison Square Garden and

         15  it's subsidiaries employs 2,300 people in permanent

         16  jobs and an even greater number in seasonal and per

         17  diem jobs.  Approximately, two- thirds of the

         18  Garden's permanent employees are New York City

         19  residents and New York State and New York City

         20  withhold income taxes from the salaries of the

         21  Garden employees in excess of $22 million per year.

         22  In 2003, almost four million people attended Madison

         23  Square Garden, more than half of whom reside outside

         24  the City of New York.

         25                 In addition, in 1989, Madison Square
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          2  Garden undertook a $238 million modernization of the

          3  Garden at it's own cost and expense.  Now, in 2005,

          4  we are preparing to commence a dramatic renovation

          5  of the facility, costing hundreds of millions of

          6  dollars which Madison Square Garden will finance

          7  itself.

          8                 The City tax abatement granted by the

          9  City is part of an economic development policy to

         10  encourage businesses to remain in the City.  These

         11  benefits are granted to companies throughout the

         12  City.  Companies such as J.P. Morgan Chase, New York

         13  Mercantile Exchange, Prudential Securities,

         14  Citibank, and NBC among others, have received such

         15  packages in recognition of the economic contribution

         16  that their presence in the City makes.  Where the

         17  City has been successful in migration, it has

         18  typically relied on the combination of economic

         19  incentives, the indirect economic and non economic

         20  benefit businesses enjoy here and the loyalty to

         21  this great City.  But the message of this resolution

         22  would be sent to those who have committed to stay

         23  and to those who might consider leaving is that the

         24  commitment by the City may only be as reliable as

         25  the quality of that company's relationship with
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          2  future administrations.  It is unclear why the City

          3  Council is focusing on the Madison Square Garden's

          4  tax exemption given that this policy of granting

          5  benefits is part of the fabric of the City's

          6  economic development program.

          7                 Madison Square Garden is an important

          8  and loyal citizen of New York City and has paid a

          9  substantial economic price for that loyalty.  We

         10  operate in a 35 year old building, housing 28

         11  unions, in which we intend to substantially renovate

         12  at our own cost and expense.  We have fulfilled our

         13  obligations under the agreement and our teams will

         14  continue to play in the greatest City in the world.

         15  We only request that this Council not seek to

         16  reverse the City's position on this important issue.

         17    Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         19  much.  Before we go into the question phase, I'd

         20  like to also introduce Council Member Dennis

         21  Gallagher, Council Member Simka Felder and Council

         22  Minority Leader James Oddo who have also joined us

         23  and Council Member Oliver Koppell as well.  And at

         24  this point in time, Council Finance Chair Dave

         25  Weprin has some questions for you sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Good afternoon,

          3  Mr. McGrath.

          4                 MR. MCGRATH: Good afternoon.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do you know of

          6  any other for profit institution in the entire State

          7  of New York that has an unlimited expiration date on

          8  their tax exemption?

          9                 MR. MCGRATH: No, I don't know at this

         10  time but I will inquire and seek out that

         11  information and submit it to the Committee.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'll save you

         13  some time.  There is none and that's why you don't

         14  know it because it's really unheard of for a for-

         15  profit institution to have an un- no sunset on a tax

         16  exemption.  Traditionally, yes, there are, you

         17  referred to a number of financial institutions and

         18  other major institutions that have had tax

         19  exemptions but they've generally been for ten years.

         20    It's unheard of that it has no expiration date and

         21  as you heard, in this particular case, it's since

         22  1982 which is 23 years and it's really irregardless

         23  of how much money, each and every year, they make.

         24                 Do you think it's also fair that this

         25  $11.6 million annual tax exemption should be used to
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          2  spend well in excess of that in TV commercials,

          3  ironically, trying to keep a sports team from coming

          4  to New York City when the original purpose of the

          5  tax exemption was to keep two sports teams in New

          6  York City, namely the Knicks and the Rangers?

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: Mr. Chair, I don't think

          8  that it's appropriate for me to answer that

          9  question.  That's a provocative question.

         10  Cablevision is doing what it has to do and what is

         11  being done is public knowledge.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Well, can you

         13  tell me how much money they've been spending on an

         14  annual basis on commercials in opposition to the

         15  stadium?

         16                 MR. MCGRATH: I have no idea but I

         17  will definitely furnish that information to the

         18  Committee.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  We'd be

         20  glad to have that.  Can you also furnish the amount

         21  that they've spent on an annual basis on lobbyists

         22  and consultants in opposition to the stadium?

         23                 MR. MCGRATH: That's a public record

         24  and --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: So what is that
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          2  number?

          3                 MR. MCGRATH: I will give you that

          4  information as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I understand it's

          6  in excess of $20 million though for this past year,

          7  is that true?

          8                 MR. MCGRATH: I don't know.  The

          9  filings are made four times a year with both the

         10  City and the State and so, I will give you that

         11  information.  It's a public record.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: If the tax

         13  exemption was revoked from Madison Square Garden,

         14  would you anticipate the owners of Madison Square

         15  Garden/Cablevision moving the Knicks and Rangers

         16  outside of New York City?

         17                 MR. MCGRATH: That's a decision that

         18  would be made by management.  I have no input in

         19  that at all.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, how much

         21  money did Madison Square Garden make last year?

         22                 MR. MCGRATH: I don't have that

         23  figure.  It's, the figure is a public record.  It's

         24  submitted to the SEC and we will give you that --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: You'll provide
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          2  that information as well?

          3                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, I will.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Do you remember

          5  what the vote was in Albany on the original tax

          6  exemption back in 1982?

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: No, I don't but it's

          8  also a public record and I will get you that

          9  information.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay.  I'll

         11  reserve the right to ask some questions later.  I'll

         12  let my colleagues ask some questions but the only

         13  thing I would add is, obviously, it is unrefuted as

         14  far as I know or else it would have been brought

         15  forward and I'd be glad to, if you can enlighten us

         16  with other for profit institutions that have an

         17  open- ended exemption because my understanding is

         18  it's unheard of.

         19                 As a matter of fact, actually, one

         20  person, and I don't know how accurate this is,

         21  actually said that the reason for the original open-

         22  ended tax exemption may have been a drafting mistake

         23  that originally was supposed to be a ten year

         24  expiration and it was an oversight and for some

         25  reason it just was open- ended but you know, I have
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          2  no specific knowledge of that but I do know that

          3  somebody did mention that and I don't know if you --

          4  do you have any input onto whether there was ever a

          5  proposal to have an expiration or whether it was

          6  always understood that it would be open- ended?

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: There was never a term

          8  and the legislation, the state legislation does not

          9  have a term attached to it so that is clear that the

         10  legislation was as it is portrayed today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Thank you,

         12  Mr. McGrath.

         13                 MR. MCGRATH: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much.  Mr. McGrath, do you think that the economic

         16  conditions which prevailed in 1982 at the time of

         17  the tax exemption for the Garden was granted -- such

         18  as high labor, energy and taxes to the extent that

         19  the Garden would not be able to afford to keep the

         20  Knicks and the Rangers here in New York City?

         21                 MR. MCGRATH: These conditions change

         22  from year to year so that the benefits that accrued

         23  in 1982 are not the same benefits that accrue today

         24  and the same thing is true as to the benefit that

         25  the Garden gives to the City of New York as far as
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          2  taxes and other benefits so you have to take a look

          3  at 1982 and then you have to take a look at 2005 and

          4  the benefits that accrue into the City because

          5  Madison Square Garden exists.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: And if you can,

          7  very quickly, what is the rationale, the logic to

          8  keep this tax exemption going on without a sunset

          9  provision?  Is there any real rationale, rhyme or

         10  reason why we should continue this?

         11                 MR. MCGRATH: This was a matter that

         12  was negotiated in 1992 with the then owners of

         13  Madison Square Garden with the Governor of the State

         14  of New York --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I think you mean

         16  1982.

         17                 MR. MCGRATH: -- I'm sorry, 1982, I

         18  do.  1982.  It was negotiated with the Governor of

         19  the State of New York, with the Mayor of the City of

         20  New York and with the then owners of Madison Square

         21  Garden.  Cablevision had nothing to do with it at

         22  that time and since it's now embodied in state

         23  legislation, the Madison Square Garden changed it's

         24  position in 1982 and therefore the rationale is that

         25  the bargain made then is the bargain that we have
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          2  today.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay.  With that

          4  being said, we do have several Council members that

          5  would like to ask you questions.  We have Council

          6  Member Lew Fidler followed by Councilwoman Madeline

          7  Provenzano and then I'll keep on introducing the

          8  rest of the members.  Council Member Fidler, your

          9  turn.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.  Mr. McGrath, I want to open with maybe

         12  the only nice thing I really have to say to you this

         13  afternoon which is I don't know how much money our

         14  friends at Cablevision are paying you per hour to

         15  sit here and not answer questions but they couldn't

         16  pay me enough money to be sitting in that seat

         17  today, in this room, in this environment today.

         18                 You start with my sympathy on a

         19  personal level and I'm fascinated by the terms of

         20  the property tax exemption which ostensibly and I

         21  have not read, you know, I'm asking you the legal

         22  question because clearly you're not here to answer

         23  the policy or the provocative questions so I'm going

         24  to try to ask the legal question.  I've not read the

         25  terms of the tax exemption but I understand that the
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          2  purpose of it was to keep the Knicks and the Rangers

          3  playing their home games here in New York.  Is that

          4  your understanding as well?

          5                 MR. MCGRATH: That's correct.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And is it, is

          7  that specifically in the tax exemption?

          8                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, it is.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, you

         10  know, ordinarily the Council staff does a terrific

         11  job at their memos but there is a mistake on page

         12  three.  It says, "Since 1982 the Knicks and the

         13  Rangers have been playing their home games in the

         14  Garden except for this year when the NHL season was

         15  cancelled due to the players strike."  In actuality,

         16  it's not a players strike, it's an owner's lock out

         17  and so therefore, by virtue of the owner's of the

         18  Rangers, Cablevision, locking out the players would,

         19  in fact, Cablevision not be in violation of the

         20  terms of this exemption in not having home games

         21  played by the Rangers?

         22                 MR. MCGRATH: If there's no games

         23  played, there's no home games played and the

         24  question, the legislation says that they have to

         25  play their home games so if there are no home games,
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          2  they can't play any.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And so if

          4  there are no home games, there should be no

          5  exemption.  I mean, you know, I'm a Knicks fan, you

          6  could argue that they're not playing their home

          7  games either, certainly not playing their road

          8  games.  Seriously, I mean, would you not say there

          9  is a legitimate argument that half of the terms of

         10  this exemption are not being met so at least

         11  Cablevision should be giving back half of the

         12  exemption so long as the owners continue to lockout

         13  the NHL players?

         14                 MR. MCGRATH: If there, the exemption

         15  comes about to prevent them from playing their home

         16  games in any other venue other than Madison Square

         17  Garden.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Counselor, I

         19  respectfully differ because, you know, your page two

         20  of your testimony you talk about the revenue that's

         21  brought in by people who are employed and the two

         22  million and the four million people that attended

         23  events at Madison Square Garden, half of whom come

         24  from out of the City.  I submit to you that the

         25  exemption is to bring those people into Madison
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          2  Square Garden and to employ those people and that's

          3  the benefit and if you're not playing the home games

          4  anywhere, it doesn't make a difference if we're

          5  playing them in Osk Kosh, New Jersey.  If we're not

          6  playing them, they're not coming and so therefore

          7  the purpose of the exemption is being vitiated by

          8  the fact that there are no home games so does that

          9  change your answer?

         10                 MR. MCGRATH: No, it doesn't.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't think

         12  it would but shouldn't it?

         13                 MR. MCGRATH: No, it shouldn't.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, I

         15  honestly believe that based upon that, the

         16  Corporation Counsel of the City of New York ought to

         17  take a hard look at the terms of the exemption.  I

         18  think the fact that MSG, I'm sorry, Cablevision has

         19  violated that by the terms of the players lockout

         20  and the fact that they're not playing home games

         21  anywhere at all.  Now the only other question I have

         22  for your you may consider provocative, if you didn't

         23  consider the other ones to be, "MSG and it's

         24  subsidiaries employ 2,300 people in permanent jobs

         25  and an even greater number in seasonal and per diem
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          2  jobs.  You withhold income taxes from the salaries

          3  of Garden employees in excess of $22 million per

          4  year.  In 2003, almost four million people attended

          5  events at Madison Square Garden more than half of

          6  who reside outside of New York City".

          7                 As I understand it, sir, there's no

          8  desire that the West Side Stadium be a venue for

          9  basketball or hockey games on professional level,

         10  why would you deny this City the opportunity to

         11  employ 2,300 more people in permanent jobs, bring

         12  four million more people into events and take $22

         13  million per year more in income tax revenue by

         14  having a West Side Stadium?

         15                 MR. MCGRATH: These are assumptions

         16  that you are making that, if those assumptions are

         17  correct, we are opposed to the stadium for the

         18  stated reasons that we have and we have given the

         19  City and the MTA an alternative proposal to develop

         20  that land.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And I would

         22  hope, by the way, that the MTA shares with everybody

         23  all the proposals in a public way as soon as

         24  possible so that we can see, in fact, the benefits

         25  of building the West Side Stadium at least as far as
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          2  I am concerned.  I will simply conclude by saying

          3  this, Mr. McGrath. I'm a Knicks fan and a Rangers

          4  fan and if we build the arena in Brooklyn, I'll

          5  probably become a Nets fan.  I love sports and it

          6  would have broken my heart if the Knicks and the

          7  Rangers had chosen to play their games outside of

          8  New York City.

          9                 But I also believe that the tax

         10  exemption that we give Madison Square Garden, that

         11  Madison Square Garden has benefitted from for a very

         12  long time, is a give away that is unfair to New

         13  Yorkers and quite frankly, it's time for it to end.

         14  I want to commend my colleague Helen Sears for

         15  having the presence to have introduced this over a

         16  year go and I would ask if my name could be added as

         17  a co- sponsor of this resolution and I do hope that

         18  not only we pass it but our colleagues in Albany see

         19  the wisdom of returning this tax money to the

         20  pockets of New Yorkers as well.  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next, we have

         22  Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you.

         24    Lew, you did a good job.  You're my hero.  Mr.

         25  McGrath, I, too, have known you for a while and I
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          2  really feel kind of bad that you're sitting in that

          3  hot seat today.  I think that the big guns that

          4  chose you, should be here themselves and they did a

          5  dis- service to these two committees for not being

          6  here.  When we buy a ticket from any event at

          7  Madison Square Garden, every ticket has an

          8  additional $4 tag tacked on to it, is that not so?

          9                 MR. MCGRATH: It has a handling

         10  charge.  I don't know whether it's $4 for every

         11  ticket but there is a handling charge for every --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: And that's in

         13  addition to Telecharge or whoever else charges their

         14  couple of dollars for whatever they do?  It's my

         15  understanding that this $4 goes directly to Madison

         16  Square Garden so when you multiply that times the

         17  four million people, that's a pretty good amount of

         18  change.

         19                 I guess what I'm trying to say is

         20  Cablevision, MSG for all the benefits that they've

         21  gotten from this City really haven't been good

         22  neighbors.  The NYPD graduates every year in the

         23  Garden and they're charged $7,000 for every

         24  graduation.  You would think that when our cops

         25  graduate, at least the Garden would say, "Hey guys,
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          2  it's on us."  That doesn't happen.

          3                 So, I think that as Cablevision, who

          4  today is you or MSG who today is you, comes to us

          5  and begs for this money back. They should kind of

          6  reflect on what they haven't done for this City.

          7  They are a monopoly so I guess they felt they could

          8  pretty much do what they want.

          9                 It also, I guess I don't really have

         10  a question for you as much as I'm, you know, more

         11  venting.  It just amazes me and I guess somebody has

         12  to get it out there all though it's not the topic

         13  for today how the Garden, if it's hurting and I have

         14  to say that the ads that they have are just, to me

         15  they're offensive, but anyway, how they can put out

         16  a bid for $600 million when, and still ask us during

         17  a crying jag, to give them back their $12 million

         18  that they get in tax abatements.

         19                 I mean, you can't even balance this

         20  the $600 million against the 12.  So I guess what I

         21  would ask is do you guys really need the $12 million

         22  if you're bidding $600 million for the rights of the

         23  property on the West Side Stadium?  It's, you know,

         24  I'm sure there's no answer but I think that there's

         25  probably enough revenue and profits around that you
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          2  guys don't really need this tax abatement.  I think

          3  it's atrocious that for 23 years you've been getting

          4  it.  Again, Ms. Sears, please add my name to this

          5  reso. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next, we have

          7  Council Member Leroy Comrie and then after him,

          8  Council Member Simcha Felder.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman and co- Chairman.  Mr. McGrath, I also want

         11  to apologize to your part because I know that you're

         12  an individual person of character and you have a

         13  good reputation which is why they sent you and you

         14  have an even temperament which is probably the real

         15  reason why they sent you today.

         16                 This is not directed at you but

         17  clearly my concern for the, is that in your

         18  statement you really didn't make any specific plea

         19  in here in any part of your statement about what MSG

         20  is doing for the City other than taking advantage of

         21  the fact that they're a monopoly in this City.  To

         22  just highlight and to enhance what my previous

         23  members have said, other than charging the City for

         24  events like the firefighters and the police and

         25  those special, unique events that gain some cachet
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          2  to the City and give some pride to the civil service

          3  workers, what you didn't list here because it's an

          4  embarrassment that Madison Square Garden is charging

          5  for that.

          6                 There's nothing in your statement

          7  that says anything about giving back to the City in

          8  any way, shape or form.  I think it's an

          9  embarrassment to say that you're taking payroll

         10  taxes for people who you would have had to employ

         11  anyway.  It's also an embarrassment that you're

         12  taking a $4 service charge from people and there's

         13  absolutely nothing being given back to the City

         14  other than the ability to host events here.

         15                 In that regard, looking at the, my

         16  understanding that the financial statement that

         17  Cablevision filed last year with the SEC realized

         18  $4.2 billion dollars in net revenue and with the,

         19  everything that's going on and the fact that you

         20  have, have you lost any specific events this year?

         21  I just heard, other than the police not coming back

         22  or has it been -- are you aware of any other events

         23  that have left Madison Square Garden in the last six

         24  months?

         25                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, the National
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          2  Football League Draft.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay.  Has

          4  Cablevision decided to now host the Police

          5  Department for free at least during this interim

          6  period since that issue came out that they're

          7  charging the New York City Police Department that

          8  protects their events, oft times provides security

          9  for their events, an opportunity to have a free

         10  graduation ceremony in the last two weeks?

         11                 MR. MCGRATH: I don't know of any

         12  decision that has been made to that --.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Has the Garden

         14  decided to do any kind of community give back in the

         15  last two weeks to any venue or any subsidiary, any

         16  non- profit in the City in the last two weeks?

         17                 MR. MCGRATH: They have a program that

         18  deals with children and deals with high schools and

         19  I will submit a detailed list of the programs that

         20  Madison Square Garden and the athletes that are

         21  attached to their teams do.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I just

         23   --

         24                 MR. MCGRATH: Just in the last couple

         25  of weeks, there have been a number of those dealing
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          2  with the Knicks.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, I

          4  understand what the teams are doing for their own

          5  promotional and to bring the athletes out into the

          6  community, which I would submit I don't see enough

          7  of either, especially in the New York City area.  I

          8  can't point to any schools in my district or I would

          9  suffice to say any schools in Queens that I've seen

         10  the Knicks or the Rangers in, in the past six months

         11  to a year.

         12                 I read my local papers.  I've seen no

         13  sign of the Knicks participating in any local

         14  community events, no sign of the Rangers

         15  participating in any local community events that I

         16  daresay in my entire borough much less the entire

         17  City that we can point a finger to that they've done

         18  any kind of real give back.

         19                 In light of that and again, this is

         20  not directed to you, Mr. McGrath, but it's directed

         21  to the people that you're sitting there for today.

         22  How can you justify the exemption still being

         23  warranted?  Today's statement shows nothing of any

         24  of those that what you just claimed, that there is a

         25  program.  If there is a program, I'd like to see it.
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          2    If there is a program, I'd like to see how it

          3  impacts on the minority community.  I'd like to see

          4  something from Cablevision in writing about their

          5  real true commitment to this City.

          6                 Clearly, saying that you can attract

          7  four million people because you're a monopoly is not

          8  something to stand on as a give back to the City.

          9  Clearly also, when you're gaining $4.2 billion in

         10  net revenue however you try to cover it up with

         11  losses. There should still be some type of way that

         12  Cablevision makes a clear and committed, commitment

         13  to provide resources to this City. If you're getting

         14  $12 million in property tax exemption, there should

         15  be at least a $12 million give back to the City in

         16  some degree to show that you care about being here.

         17                 To show that you care about this City

         18  beyond the selfish needs to be a sole- source

         19  monopoly which is truly not sufficient for the

         20  City's needs.  Do you believe that this City

         21  deserves to have an international soccer match?

         22                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Do you believe

         24  that we should be able to host the NCAA Final Four?

         25                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Or have an

          3  international cricket match or to be able to host

          4  the World Cup one day?

          5                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: And do you

          7  have the facility to host any of those events today?

          8                 MR. MCGRATH: Not today, no.  I will

          9  give you, Councilperson, I will give you the

         10  programs that we have.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Again, I don't

         12  want to cut you off because it's not in front of us

         13  and I can daresay that there maybe one or two

         14  members in the entire Council that have been aware

         15  of any type of give backs from Cablevision to any of

         16  their communities.  I'm not going to poll people

         17  today to ask them because if there is one member

         18  that's doing it, good luck to them and God bless

         19  them, that is getting something back from

         20  Cablevision.

         21                 But I would point out that if you're

         22  going to ask for something, you need to show

         23  something.  If they're going to make a desire to

         24  show that they want a property tax exemption which

         25  is unprecedented in it's scope and length and breath
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          2  that they should make some real commitment to this

          3  City in a tangible form to reach out to the smallest

          4  people in this City as well as to the entire City as

          5  a whole.

          6                 Clearly, understanding that we are

          7  facing a financial crisis in this City, Cablevision

          8  should want to step up and be a major part of saving

          9  what's necessary in this City and again this is not

         10  directed to you, sir, but please pass that to your

         11  people, the Dolens (phonetic) who you are

         12  representing today. Mr. Chair, I'm done.  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         15  much.  Next we have Council Member Simcha Felder and

         16  then after him, we have Council Member Joe Addabbo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         18  much, Chairman.  Today, I, at listening to your

         19  testimony and reading it, is one of the saddest days

         20  of my career when I read page three and see, you

         21  know, what a terrible situation MSG is in, operating

         22  a 35 year old building with 28 unions and you have

         23  to renovate it.  I don't know.  I'm living in a --

         24  and it says here that you're in a 35 year old

         25  building, I'm living in a 75 year old house with one
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          2  union and we pay, we pay about $2,000 in tax every

          3  year.

          4                 I have no pity on you at all.  I

          5  really don't, on MSG.  I think that it's the

          6  ultimate hutzpah for MSG to be asking for a tax

          7  break.  It's utterly, it's bizarre that you should

          8  be asking for tax breaks while we, in the City and

          9  the City Council, are debating what services to cut,

         10  library hours and other things. I think it's bizarre

         11  so what I would say is that you should not waste

         12  your time, really, with this unless, I don't know

         13  you at all.              Most of my colleagues

         14  prefaced it by saying that they like you very much

         15  and they feel bad for you.  I don't feel bad for you

         16  and the only reason I'm trying to ask as many

         17  questions as I can is to get you more billable hours

         18  on this thing.  That's all.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Mr. Chair, I

         20  just want to make a point of clarification.  My name

         21  is not on this text but I signed onto this bill.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, so we'll

         23  make sure you get your foot back onto it.  Next we

         24  have Council Member, okay, I believe you've actually

         25  been put on as number two, Council Member. Next we
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          2  have Joe Addabbo and then after Joe Addabbo, we have

          3  Jimmy Oddo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chair and I appreciate the time of both chairs.

          6  Mr. McGrath, I do appreciate your time as well.  I

          7  hate following Simcha Felder, I really do. Oh, yeah,

          8  personally, you're fine.

          9                 I really have a problem, Mr. McGrath

         10  with page two when you say, "MSG remains a committed

         11  member of the community today".  I really have a

         12  problem with that statement.  I mean, committed to

         13  me is paying your increased property taxes and

         14  staying in this City and committed to me is working

         15  for a living and trying to make ends meet and

         16  working hard and committed me each and every person

         17  in this room is a resident of this City.

         18                 That's committed, making the

         19  sacrifices that we had to make since the big deficit

         20  of four years ago.  That's committed. That's what

         21  committed is, not not paying real estate taxes.  So

         22  committed means everybody in this room except for

         23  one person, that's your client, that's what

         24  committed to me is.

         25                 You know, there's been a trend and I
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          2  don't mean to compare MSG with the Port Authority at

          3  this point but I'm going to bring them up as an

          4  example.  The Port Authority restructured their

          5  lease with the City and they even increased their

          6  rental payment from $3 million a year to $93 million

          7  a year, okay?  Plus, giving back to the communities

          8  that are impacted by the airports, both LaGuardia

          9  and JFK, giving back millions of dollars into the

         10  communities.

         11                 That's committed to a community.

         12  That's what the Port Authority did and they didn't

         13  complain or belly ache about doing less business in

         14  New York or hiring less people.  They did it.  They

         15  did it through negotiations with the City in good

         16  faith. That's what they did and I don't see any

         17  effort on behalf of MSG or anybody, Cablevision,

         18  doing the same for this great city.  You called it a

         19  great city.  You called it the greatest city and yet

         20  there is no committed member of the community today.

         21                 To me, those are just words on the

         22  paper.  I don't see any effort and to sit there and

         23  take this tax abatement and not do anything, as I

         24  said, no effort on your end, is deplorable.  Now,

         25  again, Mr. McGrath, what is the next step?  So you
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          2  go back to MSG and what is the next step?  You say

          3  how, you know, you heard it here today but there's

          4  no talk is there about possibly restructuring this

          5  agreement with the City.  There's no talk about

          6  giving back to this greatest city in the world, is

          7  there?

          8                 MR. MCGRATH: There's no talk about

          9  modifying this state legislation, no but I will go

         10  back to the, to Madison Square Garden and furnish

         11  you the information that you requested and tell

         12  Madison Square Garden each and every one of your

         13  feelings.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: And again, I

         15  do appreciate your time as well but I'd hate to see

         16  it being business as usual. As you spend millions

         17  preventing progress on the West Side, the progress

         18  of getting another team back here, I hate to see

         19  that it's business as usual as you also take the tax

         20  abatement.  So again, while I appreciate your time,

         21  I don't appreciate the practices of MSG and I'd also

         22  like to be added to the reso too, Mr. Chair. Thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Next we have

         25  Council Minority Leader Jimmy Oddo and then Council
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          2  Member Oliver Koppell afterwards.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman. I don't have a question so much as a

          5  statement.  I'm a co- sponsor of this resolution,

          6  not because I'm anti- Cablevision, not because I'm

          7  anti- Knick, not because I'm anti- Rangers, well,

          8  actually I am anti Rangers because I'm an Islander

          9  fan and I detest the Rangers and I also detest the

         10  New Jersey Devils for choking with a game six lead

         11  in 1994 which would have kept alive the second

         12  greatest losing streak in the history of organized

         13  sports and it was a sad day but my only comment is

         14  while I agree with lots of the things that my

         15  colleagues have said in opposition to this tax

         16  break, I find it very curious that we're having this

         17  hearing now when in late 2002 and early 2003 Council

         18  Member Dennis Gallagher and I raised this issue when

         19  we opposed the Mayor's historic property tax

         20  increase and we were looking for other ways to fill

         21  the gap and this issue couldn't seem to get any

         22  traction back then and I credit Council Member Sears

         23  for introducing this resolution over a year ago.

         24                 I think this hearing would have a lot

         25  more credibility if we were having this discussion
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          2  back when Council Member Gallagher and I raised it,

          3  back when Council Member Sears introduced it over a

          4  year ago and I think that a very worthy discussion

          5  that we're having now is undercut by the political

          6  overtones and the whole West Side Stadium

          7  controversy.

          8                 This is a real issue.  $11 million

          9  would have gone to fund all those firehouses that we

         10  fought to close but I think we do ourselves a

         11  disservice and we stub our toe a little bit in terms

         12  of our long term credibility when we discuss this

         13  issue now in the context of a very heated political

         14  issue and not when it really mattered most when we

         15  thought it was easy to tax our constituents instead

         16  of making tough decisions then and no one wanted to

         17  talk about it.

         18                 So I just go on the record as saying

         19  I support the resolution.  I support my colleagues

         20  but I find it real curious that we're having it now

         21  instead of over a year or two ago.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         23  much.  Next we have Council Member Oliver KOPPELL

         24  and then Council Member Dennis Gallagher right after

         25  him.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman.  I'm just trying to draw some

          4  comparisons here because I think it may be

          5  worthwhile to look at it from the point of view of

          6  what we do with other sports teams.  The Yankees,

          7  they play in Yankee Stadium. Yankee Stadium is not

          8  owned by the Yankees like Madison Square Garden is

          9  owned by the people who also own the Knicks and the

         10  Rangers, isn't that right?

         11                 MR. MCGRATH: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And Yankee

         13  Stadium, as I recall it, was rebuilt about 25 years

         14  ago and the City spent, I think, $100 million to

         15  rebuild it.  Is that correct?

         16                 MR. MCGRATH: It was rebuilt.  I don't

         17  know exactly the date but --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: It was during

         19  the Lindsay Administration.

         20                 MR. MCGRATH: It was --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: You and I

         22  remember that.

         23                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes.  Yes, we do.  It

         24  was paid for by the City.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right and do
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          2  the Yankees pay real estate taxes on Yankee Stadium?

          3                 MR. MCGRATH: I don't believe they do.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I believe

          5  they do pay some rental under an agreement with the

          6  City.

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: They're under an

          8  agreement with the City and they do pay a rent.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And do you

         10  know how much that rent is?

         11                 MR. MCGRATH: No, I don't.  I'm not, I

         12  knew at one time but I don't whether that rental

         13  agreement was modified.  There is a floor in that

         14  agreement and then over and above revenue they pay

         15  an additional amount.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Does the City

         17  provide any maintenance at Yankee Stadium?

         18                 MR. MCGRATH: No, as I recall the

         19  maintenance is done by the team and then the City is

         20  charged.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The City is

         22  charged?  So the City actually does pay for some of

         23  the maintenance.

         24                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, it does.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And the
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          2  Yankees pay no real estate taxes?

          3                 MR. MCGRATH: To my knowledge, no they

          4  don't.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The Mets.

          6  Shea Stadium was built by the City, was it not?

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, it was.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Did the Mets

          9  pay for building Shea Stadium?

         10                 MR. MCGRATH: No.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And do the

         12  Mets pay any real estate taxes on Shea Stadium?

         13                 MR. MCGRATH: To my knowledge, no they

         14  do not.  To my knowledge.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right, and do

         16  you know whether in, I guess the teams that play

         17  over in the Giants Stadium, right now, the Giants

         18  and the Jets, do you know whether they pay real

         19  estate taxes to New Jersey?

         20                 MR. MCGRATH: I have no knowledge of

         21  what's happening over in -- but it is a public

         22  record and I will be able to furnish that

         23  information but I don't --.  I just want to say

         24  about Shea Stadium, not only did the City pay for

         25  the building of that but also this City Council
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          2  named that stadium.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Right.

          4                 MR. MCGRATH: By resolution.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: After Bill

          6  Shea.  The point I'm trying to make, Mr. McGrath,

          7  I'm trying to perhaps put this argument on a little

          8  bit of an even keel.  I'm not particularly an

          9  advocate of the Madison Square Garden or the Rangers

         10  and the Knicks over above the Jets or the Yankees or

         11  the Mets but I think it's true and I think you ought

         12  to look into it that generally speaking, sports

         13  teams do not pay either taxes or even substantial

         14  rent on the stadiums and you pointed out that

         15  Madison Square Garden was renovated at the cost of

         16  Cablevision, I guess, or affiliates and is now going

         17  to be renovated again at the cost of Cablevision or

         18  it's affiliates not at the cost of the City.

         19                 So, it seems to me that if the

         20  Yankees paid real estate taxes on Yankee Stadium or

         21  the Mets paid it on Shea Stadium then we could be

         22  critical of you but I'm not sure we can really be

         23  critical of you when not only do those teams not pay

         24  real estate taxes but they didn't pay for the

         25  stadium and your folks did and will again.  Am I
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          2  wrong in that or isn't that a fair way of looking at

          3  it?

          4                 MR. MCGRATH: That's a fair assumption

          5  and I will furnish this Committee, these two

          6  Committees with the back up information that I said

          7  I would.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I think what

          9  you should do, quite frankly, is look nationally and

         10  find out how many sports teams, including basketball

         11  teams and hockey teams, pay real estate taxes on the

         12  stadiums that they play in.  I suspect what you'll

         13  find is that very few, if any, of them pay real

         14  estate taxes and that most of them play in stadiums

         15  that are built by the municipality rather than built

         16  by the teams themselves as you indicated you're

         17  going to do or your clients are going to do so

         18  before we get all too excited about this, I think we

         19  ought to compare apples and apples.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         21  much.  Next we have Council Member Dennis Gallagher

         22  followed by Councilwoman and author of Resolution

         23  277, Helen Sears.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you.

         25  Perhaps my colleague Oliver KOPPELL would like to

                                                            107

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  introduce a resolution so we can look into this

          3  information about Shea Stadium and Yankee Stadium

          4  but I'm going to be much more critical of you with

          5  regards to the money and let me tell you why.

          6                 One, I'm not, I guess I'm with Simka

          7  Felder in that I don't know that we've ever had the

          8  opportunity to meet before but what I've seen so far

          9  is I think you've performed the "Dolan Shuffle"

         10  quite well.  You've avoided giving any real answers

         11  at any cost to this Committee.

         12                 But let me tell you why I was one of

         13  the original people, back in 2002, with my colleague

         14  Jim Oddo and Councilwoman Helen Sears to call for

         15  the elimination of this tax credit.  It was at that

         16  time I sat in budget hearings in this Council

         17  Chamber and I listened to different Commissioners

         18  come walking in on a daily basis talking about

         19  doomsday and talking about all the things that they

         20  had to close.  How it was going to affect my

         21  district.

         22                 Ultimately, we watched six firehouses

         23  close in the City of New York, putting many people

         24  in harms way.  The money from this exemption could

         25  have paid for those firehouses.  We seen a reduction
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          2  in senior services throughout the City of New York

          3  including a little program in my district called the

          4  Queens Multi Service Center which services about 25

          5  senior citizens that that center had to close down

          6  their entire Saturday and weekend operations because

          7  they couldn't come up with $25,000 to $50,000 that

          8  they needed to operate but yet it was okay for the

          9  City of New York to give an $11.6 million exemption

         10  to the profitable venture, to Madison Square Garden.

         11                 What else did we see?  We seen a

         12  reduction in youth services.  Right now, in this

         13  year's preliminary budget, we're looking at a

         14  reduction in almost 10,000 summer youth jobs because

         15  we don't have $11 million.  I wish Cablevision would

         16  step up to the plate and say, "You know what, why

         17  don't we make a donation?  Why don't we help come up

         18  with something?"

         19                 So I am going to be critical of

         20  Cablevision and Madison Square Garden.  You're

         21  spending your exemption on lobbying our tax dollars.

         22    You're doing it to stop competition and what

         23  you're doing is trying to ruin an opportunity for so

         24  many people throughout this City, so many working

         25  families to get a good job, to get employment and to
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          2  participate in the American dream.

          3                 So while my colleague Oliver KOPPELL

          4  doesn't want to be to harsh on you, I say, "Shame on

          5  you, MSG.  Give back the exemption.  You should be

          6  the first to be up in Albany saying, "The time is

          7  now to change this back over."  You've enjoyed it

          8  for too long and you've given nothing back to the

          9  City of New York.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         11  Council Member.  I'm just going to inject here in

         12  all deference to my distinguished colleague Council

         13  Member KOPPELL, I just wanted -- who I'm very often

         14  in agreement with, I disagree with a couple of

         15  things he said and I just have to clarify a few

         16  things.

         17                 One is the Yankees and Mets play on

         18  City property. The property is owned by the City of

         19  New York.  It's not privately owned.  The money that

         20  the Yankees and Mets pay in rent is very substantial

         21  and is constantly going up based on additional rent

         22  agreements and using a comparison with other sports

         23  stadiums is not accurate vis- a- vis Madison Square

         24  Garden because Madison Square Garden is a multi- use

         25  facility that is not just used for sporting events.
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          2  It's used for the circus.  It's used for concerts.

          3  It's used for conventions.  It's used for multi,

          4  multi use facility so it's really not a good analogy

          5  to other sports teams playing in other locations.

          6  Council Member Sears.  Prerogative of the Chair.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair. Actually, I agree with you and I was going to

          9  raise that issue because they do pay rent and that

         10  rent covers everything that the responsibilities

         11  that the City has to do.  Mr. McGrath, in your

         12  testimony, and I'll follow up on something

         13  Councilman Simcha Felder said, you stated that in

         14  1989, you renovated the building.  You spent $238

         15  million modernizing that building.  On page three,

         16  you state that you are operating in a 35 year old

         17  building.  Well, if my math serves me right, I think

         18  the building should be 16 years old.  So I'm not

         19  quite certain exactly what this discrepancy in your

         20  testimony so I think that one, that needs to be

         21  checked as to maybe when you did modernize it, I

         22  don't know now and just how old is the building.  So

         23  I think one, you may not be able to answer that, if

         24  you do, it's fine because I'll go on to my next

         25  area.
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          2                 MR. MCGRATH: This building, Madison

          3  Square Garden, is the second oldest arena having

          4  professional basketball or hockey.  The only

          5  building that's older than this, in the United

          6  States and Canada, having a professional sportings

          7  team is in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania.  This was built

          8  35 years ago.  It was, in fact, as you point out,

          9  renovated in 1989 but it was built 35 years ago.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, do the

         11  renovations make it livable where you can work in

         12  it?  You spend $238 million and I'm not going to

         13  labor this point but there's a conflict basically or

         14  at least in the message that you're trying to say so

         15  I'll accept what you said.  I disagree with exactly

         16  the message that you're trying to send because I

         17  think it's a distortion.  You spent a lot of money.

         18  You were also given this tax exemption so that you

         19  could modernize and continue to do that and to keep

         20  the games there.  So I think you're in a conflict.

         21                 Secondly, I'd just like to make a

         22  statement and I think you can answer it in your

         23  professional capacity or as a citizen.  When

         24  government passes legislation, whatever level it is

         25  on, and they recognize over the years that they also
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          2  have a capacity to correct that wrong, do you think

          3  it's wrong for government to correct a wrong?  You

          4  don't need to go back to MSG for that.

          5                 MR. MCGRATH: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I'm asking you

          7  that just in your professional capacity as a citizen

          8  and somebody with a democratic, if you'll pardon the

          9  word --

         10                 MR. MCGRATH: That's why we have the

         11  legislation and that's why it beats every year

         12  because there are changes in circumstances and there

         13  are changes in legislation that follow that.  Yes, I

         14  agree with you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: -- So why are

         16  you taking to task a legislative body that sees a

         17  grave wrong in perpetuating this error?  I like to

         18  think of it as an error and go about the business of

         19  correcting it so it can be fair play?

         20                 MR. MCGRATH: I'm not taking any

         21  legislative body to task at all.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, I think

         23  your testimony says you don't understand why the

         24  City Council is now taking this position in having

         25  this resolution and dealing with taking away your,
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          2  with advocating the removal of your exemption.

          3                 MR. MCGRATH: That's right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I would seem to

          5  think that that's a conflict with those who are

          6  looking to see that it is terminated.

          7                 MR. MCGRATH: No, I think that people

          8  have disagreements on an issue and here in this

          9  situation, the legislation was passed and as we all

         10  know now in 1982 to keep --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: 23 years ago.

         12                 MR. MCGRATH: -- That's correct and --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: 23, a long

         14  time, a long time.

         15                 MR. MCGRATH: -- And it was to keep

         16  these teams here in the City and that's why the

         17  legislature acted and we're just asking that this

         18  legislation stay in place.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Well, I think

         20  that that's going to be a hard thing to do and I

         21  have one more question.  You keep referring to the

         22  2,300 employees at Madison Square Garden and how you

         23  do this.  Is there an implication that if you, if

         24  this exemption is terminated, you won't be employing

         25  2,300 people anymore?
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          2                 MR. MCGRATH: No.  No, I was saying

          3  that we employ 2,300 permanent.  I didn't threaten

          4  or imply anything.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I just wanted

          6  that clear for the record so that you would accept

          7  this termination of the tax exemption without

          8  letting go 2,300 people.  So if there's no reference

          9   --

         10                 MR. MCGRATH: Yes, I never implied, I

         11  never implied that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: -- That, thank

         13  you very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Council Member

         15  Quinn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.  I

         17  don't really have any questions because I think

         18  they've mostly been asked and responded to or not.

         19  But I just wanted to ask if my name could be added

         20  as a sponsor of the resolution.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And Council

         22  Member Fidler for an additional question.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I'm back.  I

         24  just really have one.  If the owners of the real

         25  estate that we know as Madison Square Garden were to
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          2  decide to sell that property, do you have any idea

          3  of what it might be worth?

          4                 MR. MCGRATH: No, I don't have any

          5  idea at this time. I don't even know whether or not

          6  there's a recent appraisal.  As a matter of fact, I

          7  know that there's not a recent appraisal of the

          8  property.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Well, Mr.

         10  McGrath, I would submit to you that Madison Square

         11  Garden sits in the area of the world in which real

         12  estate is the most valuable it possibly could be and

         13  that the owners of MSG would have the prerogative

         14  someday of selling that property which with in all

         15  deference to my colleague Oliver KOPPELL neither the

         16  Mets nor the Yankees could do and that's why MSG

         17  pays real estate taxes.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: All right, seeing

         19  no more questions.  I think you'll be happily

         20  excused.

         21                 MR. MCGRATH: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  The next witness

         23  is, oh by the way, Councilman Gennaro had to leave

         24  but he also asked that his name be added as a co-

         25  sponsor of the legislation.  We've also, I
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          2  understand, received testimony from Assemblyman

          3  Steve Cymbrowitz and Senator Martin Golden which

          4  we'll read into the record and their sponsors of

          5  legislation that has been introduced in Albany to

          6  revoke Madison Square Garden's tax exemption which

          7  actually was just introduced in the last few months

          8  subsequent to the resolution that was introduced by

          9  Council Member Sears.   At the end, we'll read it

         10  into the record.

         11                 The next witness is Doug Turetsky

         12  from the New York City Independent Budget Office.

         13  You know what, we're going to bring up the three

         14  witnesses as a panel, Doug Turetsky from the

         15  Independent Budget Office, Bonnie Brower from City

         16  Project and Bettina Damiani from Good Jobs New York.

         17    If you could come up together please.  I'll bet

         18  they all make less per hour combined than Mr.

         19  McGrath.  Are Bonnie Brower and Bettina Damiani

         20  still here?  Okay, I know they were here earlier and

         21  they're here now. Mr. Turetsky, you can start.

         22                 MR. TURETSKY: Thank you.  Good

         23  afternoon, Council members.  In the interest of

         24  time, I will not read from my prepared testimony

         25  which you have.  It restates a number, many of the
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          2  numbers that have already been stated here in terms

          3  of the cost of the tax exemption and also the

          4  unusual nature of the tax exemption. What I will do

          5  is skip over to, in response to a point that Council

          6  Member Fidler raised about the unusual nature this

          7  year of there not being any hockey being played at

          8  Madison Square Garden.

          9                 I'm going to read the section that I

         10  think pertains to what he was raising that's in the

         11  state law that authorizes the tax exemption. "If one

         12  or both of said teams shall cease to play their home

         13  games in said property at any time, the tax

         14  exemption provided herein shall cease immediately

         15  and such property shall immediately be restored to

         16  the tax rolls and there upon become subject to

         17  taxation and should be taxed pro- rata for the

         18  unexpired portion of the taxable year."

         19                 I'm not a lawyer by any means but

         20  that certainly suggests to me that Mr. Fidler's

         21  point may, in fact, have some validity.  It is

         22  certainly worth debating.  It's not the Independent

         23  Budget Office's role but you may well be right in

         24  another context.  I'd be glad to answer any

         25  questions that you have.
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          2                 Another point that might be of

          3  interest to you, the Memorandum of Understanding,

          4  there's a proposal as I'm sure you all know for

          5  another arena to be built in Brooklyn.  The

          6  Memorandum of Understanding between Forest City

          7  Ratner and the City on that proposal would exempt

          8  taxes during the period when the -- from the City is

          9  paid.  Once that subsidy is paid off, the bonds are

         10  paid off for that subsidy, that arena will return to

         11  the tax rolls under the Memorandum of Understanding

         12  that was recently signed.  So again, just for

         13  comparative purposes.  I'd be glad to answer any

         14  questions you may have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: What we'll do is

         16  we'll hear from the other panelists before asking

         17  questions.  Ms. Damiani.

         18                 MS. DAMIANI: My name is Bettina

         19  Damiani.  I'm Director of Good Jobs New York.  We're

         20  a project of the Fiscal Policy Institute with

         21  offices in Albany and New York City and Good Jobs

         22  First, based in Washington, D.C.  Thank you for the

         23  invitation to speak to you today about Madison

         24  Square Garden's special exemption from property

         25  taxes.
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          2                 This is a unique opportunity to bring

          3  attention to what we believe are unnecessary

          4  taxpayer giveaways that are not only being given to

          5  Madison Square Garden.  The very public debate

          6  between those advocating for the proposed Jets

          7  Stadium and the owners of the Garden has given an

          8  opportunity to policy makers like yourselves to

          9  raise questions about the validity of MSG's tax

         10  break.  We hope all corporate subsidies get this

         11  type of attention.

         12                 We believe that MSG's property tax

         13  break is a blatant giveaway that shifts the tax

         14  burden to smaller businesses and residents.

         15  However, it's ironic that the Garden's 1982 deal

         16  which had no promises to retain jobs for New

         17  Yorkers, is receiving this attention while some of

         18  the wealthiest companies in New York City and

         19  arguably the world get little or no scrutiny from

         20  elected officials or the media for their own tax

         21  breaks despite half hearted and broken promises for

         22  jobs.

         23                 We believe there's hutzpah of people

         24  and elected officials to rake MSG over the coals and

         25  not make this as an initiative to broader public

                                                            120

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  policy around corporate incentives and subsidies

          3  that have failed to produce the jobs they have

          4  promised New Yorkers needs be paid much more close

          5  attention to.

          6                 Good Jobs New York would like to

          7  indulge and use this as an opportunity to propose

          8  that more public input and transparency become the

          9  norm in future allocations of large, discretionary

         10  tax breaks.  Better dissemination of information on

         11  the costs and benefits of these deals would garner

         12  interest from the public, elected officials and

         13  stakeholders of the project. This publicity would

         14  help prevent corporate giveaways from creeping up on

         15  the Council.

         16                 Let me just lay out a couple of

         17  examples for you. Bank of America.  Despite the fact

         18  the company fired so many workers that the City

         19  stopped paying future benefits for it's offices in

         20  the World Trade Center in 1993, the Bank's new tower

         21  has been given up to $42 million of new city

         22  subsidies for it's office at One Bryant Park.

         23                 Merrill Lynch.  Merrill has so far

         24  used over $20 million of it's $27.6 million subsidy

         25  awarded in 1997, leaving over $7 million yet to be
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          2  allocated.  That is despite the fact that Merrill

          3  has laid off nearly 3,000 employees.  Because of the

          4  loopholes in this corporate attention agreement, the

          5  firm is not required to pay a penalty for the

          6  layoffs.  In the IDA's most recent report of the

          7  9,000 jobs the firm is supposed to retain, it

          8  currently has 7,453.

          9                 And finally, J.P. Morgan Chase.

         10  Chase has had the distinction of being the largest

         11  City tax subsidy recipient being awarded $23.7

         12  million in 1989 and today, there's over $100 million

         13  remaining but because of mergers, the company's laid

         14  off nearly 10,000 workers.

         15                 The average subsidy tends to be

         16  around 25 years. There are subsidy agreements like

         17  BearSterns which for 50 years. We believe these

         18  organizations need as much scrutiny.  This is not to

         19  say that investments shouldn't be made in insuring

         20  New York City retains and creates good paying jobs.

         21  The back room deals like the one made in 1982 and

         22  the 1990s should not be mimicked today. Applied

         23  judiciously, taxpayer investments can strengthen the

         24  City's economy, help many more employers and avoid

         25  costly ransom payments like the ones paid to Madison
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          2  Square Garden.

          3                 Otherwise, issues around tax breaks

          4  given to Madison Square Garden 13 years ago will

          5  look like childs play unless we pay closer attention

          6  to them today.  Thank you.

          7                 MS. BROWER: Good afternoon, Mr.

          8  Chairman, Mr. Chairman and Council members.  My name

          9  is Bonnie Brower.  I'm Executive Director of City

         10  Project, an independent progressive City budget

         11  advocacy research and watchdog organization.

         12                 Thank you for inviting us here to

         13  testify today about the Madison Square Garden tax

         14  exemption.  I want to start out by saying that I do

         15  not know the history of what gave rise to passage in

         16  1982 of the very particular one entity only law that

         17  gave rise to Madison Square Garden's full property

         18  tax exemption. I wasn't focusing on those things

         19  then.  I also don't want to speculate about what

         20  considerations have led to the Council's

         21  consideration of revoking or asking for that

         22  exemption to be repealed.

         23                 What I do know and what City Project

         24  believes is that MSG is continuing full property tax

         25  exemption is unwise, unfair, unnecessary and should
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          2  be repealed forthwith.  However, I want to go a

          3  step, it's, as at least the Finance Chair and it's a

          4  little weird to be in the majority.  I want to go a

          5  little step further.  I really want to urge that the

          6  Council pass a home rule message to that affect, not

          7  a simple resolution and that you get it up to the

          8  full Council first for vote and take it up to Albany

          9  as soon as possible.  I think you need to go beyond

         10  a simple resolution.

         11                 And I also would say that Section 429

         12  of the Real Property Tax Law is a perfect example of

         13  the profound error of conferring unlimited property

         14  tax benefits for an unlimited periods on any single

         15  business as was the case with Madison Square Garden

         16  or even for certain types of entities.

         17                 I'm not going to go over IBO's very

         18  strong arguments in favor why the exemption should

         19  be put to rest because you've all read it's

         20  brilliant, budget options.   But I do want to say

         21  that and I just also want to say that whatever the

         22  end result of the current bloodbath over the West

         23  Side Stadium, and I ain't getting into that issue

         24  today, whatever the result of that is, I would hope

         25  that one lesson the City learns is, from MSG's
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          2  situation is, that we should be exceedingly

          3  parsimonious with property tax exemptions especially

          4  from multiple use stadiums.

          5                 I have a piece in my statement

          6  detailing all of the services in full or in part

          7  that $12 million could buy back.  I'm not going to

          8  read you that list.  You all probably know it by

          9  heart although I suspect it may even be longer than

         10  you think.  What I do want to say is the following

         11  that beyond, I don't believe the issue as was

         12  suggested earlier, I don't believe the issue is what

         13  should or could Madison Square Garden give back to

         14  the City, you know, kind of as a quid pro quo for

         15  the corporate welfare gift that it's receiving.

         16                 The real issue is that their property

         17  taxes belong in the City treasury for them to be

         18  decided as spent for the entire budget process to

         19  decide what they should be spent on.  I don't want a

         20  gift from Madison Square Garden.  I want their tax,

         21  their property taxes and then I want the City to

         22  have a truly open authentically democratic budget

         23  process to decide what we want to spend those tax

         24  revenues on and what we need the most.

         25                 I would just quickly say that it's
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          2  important the perspective we come out of facing this

          3  is that, as you all know, the City continues to face

          4  a billion dollar deficit for 2006 despite the influx

          5  of a lot of volatile revenues.  The City is also, at

          6  least the Mayor, is counting on some very unreliable

          7  and questionable mix of revenues to close that

          8  budget gap but I want to go further and say that the

          9  larger, unspoken and completely unaddressed reality

         10  is what do we do about the City's chronic structural

         11  gap between it's regular revenues, regular occurring

         12  revenues and it's absolutely essential expenditures,

         13  a growing proportion of which the City has little to

         14  no control over and it's because of that structural

         15  gap that we welcome this joint Committee hearing on

         16  an examination of one potential source of

         17  significant revenues.

         18                 But as Bettina said, although for

         19  slightly different reasons, we hope that it

         20  represents just the first step in a much more

         21  comprehensive and deep re- examination of property

         22  tax exemptions generally.  In my organizations,

         23  eternal quest for additional dependable, progressive

         24  revenues.  We recently undertook a very

         25  comprehensive analysis of the City's annual loss of
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          2  tax revenues through a myriad of, hundreds of

          3  property tax exemptions that are chaotic, exploding

          4  and uncontrolled.  We wrote and distributed the

          5  first of a report.  The first report only focused on

          6  state owned and state authority controlled property

          7  tax exemptions.

          8                 We will be reporting on other things,

          9  other aspects later but what I want to suggest is

         10  the reason we chose to look at property taxes,

         11  there's three policy reasons, one practical reason.

         12  The practical reason is very simple.  To paraphrase

         13  Willie Sutton, our very own, brilliant and very

         14  quotable bank robber, "It's where the money is."

         15  The policy reasons are a little more subtle but

         16  equally compelling.  One is that property tax

         17  expenditures like the $12 million a year in foregone

         18  taxes that we're looking at for Madison Square

         19  Garden occur off budget.  They don't get subject to

         20  public scrutiny.  They don't get subject to the

         21  public budget process.

         22                 Secondly, the official city report

         23  that is charter mandated to report on tax

         24  expenditures actually covers only $2 billion in

         25  property tax exemptions, expenditures out of $7.7
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          2  billion.  So that report only covers approximately

          3  25 percent of the actual tax expenditures, revenues

          4  that we lose and the reason for that is that their

          5  report is confined solely to City administered

          6  property tax expenditure programs.  That's a flaw

          7  that obviously should be addressed but I'm pointing

          8  out -- the major point that I'm making is that if

          9  the $7.7 billion figure of annual tax revenues

         10  foregone through various tax expenditure programs

         11  comes as a surprise, it's not because you're not

         12  reading the reports that the City is issuing.  It's

         13  that nobody's reporting on the entire universe of

         14  lost property taxes.

         15                 And I guess just last -- and I just

         16  want to say so that MSG property exemption is put

         17  into a larger context that as of now because of this

         18  myriad, there are over 180 state tax exemptions and

         19  more constitutionally and more at the City level, at

         20  this point in time, in fiscal '04, just over 40

         21  percent of the total assessed value of the City's

         22  real estate or as I like to call it, "unreal estate"

         23  these days, is being captured by property taxes.

         24                 Just over 40 percent and that

         25  compares to almost 67 percent just 30 years ago and
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          2  so we are losing more than $7.7. Billion and that's

          3  with a "b", billion a year to property tax

          4  exemptions.  I would suggest, you know, of which the

          5  12 million from Madison Square Garden is certainly a

          6  tidy sum but it's just, you know, a pea in a pod.

          7  We're not talking about pocket change. We need to

          8  really re- examine that whole issue.

          9                 So, in closing, I just would like to

         10  say we're very happy that the Council has taken a

         11  step towards re- examining one property tax

         12  exemption.  We urge you to get all the needed --

         13  repeal it now but we also urge you to look into the

         14  broader issue of property tax exemptions.  We would

         15  love to work with the Council on that and I just

         16  want to throw in one final word with your permission

         17  and I will make it just a second.

         18                 We didn't know about the pilots intro

         19  this morning, Intro 584 but I just want to say that

         20  was so much potential revenue flowing outside of the

         21  budget through property tax exemptions, industrial

         22  exemptions and all the other exemptions.  We think

         23  that it is essential that property, that payments in

         24  lieu of property taxes flow through the, into the

         25  City's treasury and through the City's budget
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          2  process.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay and Ms.

          4  Brower as I indicated to you earlier, we'd be glad

          5  to take a written submission --

          6                 MS. BROWER: And I will submit

          7  something in writing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: -- To be put in

          9  the record. While you're here, I just wanted to also

         10  say that, Ms. Brower, each and every year through

         11  City Project does on white paper on ways that we can

         12  make restorations and provide additional services

         13  and I'm pretty sure that she's included this Madison

         14  Square Garden tax exemption in each and every year

         15  since, at least since 2002 that I'm aware of --

         16                 MS. BROWER: That and many others.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: -- So it

         18  certainly predates any discussion of the West Side

         19  Stadium.  I just want to put on the record as well

         20  that I'm normally not opposed to tax exemptions

         21  certainly when they provide additional jobs and

         22  economic development and other major things.  What

         23  makes this so much is different is not that I'm a

         24  supporter of the stadium, believe me it's not the

         25  reason.  I even hesitated because of what Council
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          2  Member Oddo mentioned about the timing of this but

          3  what's happened is the media has focused on it

          4  because of the West Side Stadium so it's still

          5  brings it to the forefront but it's still regardless

          6  of the debate is a relevant issue.

          7                 What makes this tax exemption unique

          8  and unheard of and unprecedented and the only one

          9  and I'd love to have somebody in the audience or

         10  anywhere else tell me where there's another tax

         11  exemption of this kind in the state of New York, and

         12  the difference being that there's no expiration date

         13  on this tax exemption.  Every other tax exemption is

         14  for ten years.  I've heard of a couple of instances

         15  of the most being 20 years but it's unheard of that

         16  there's no sunset on this tax exemption.  No

         17  reviewing it at any time whether it's ten years, 20

         18  years, 30 years, 40 years, 50 years.  It's just

         19  unprecedented and I'd like to hear of another

         20  similar situation for a for- profit institution, not

         21  for a not- for profit institution which is

         22  acceptable but for a for- profit institution.

         23                 MS. BROWER: What I would suggest,

         24  Chairman Weprin, that some of the things that fall

         25  under tax exemptions for non profits might not be so
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          2  acceptable either but I would also just mention that

          3  it obviously was the City that asked the State to

          4  enact this "one entity tax exemption" so I really

          5  think it's the City's obligation to go up to Albany

          6  full force and demand it's immediate repeal.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, maybe the

          8  answer to that is once the Stadium issue blows over

          9  because it shouldn't be tied into the stadium.

         10                 MS. BROWER: No, it shouldn't be tied

         11  into the stadium at all.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I agree.  I

         13  agree.  Thank you. Any questions?  Okay, I think

         14  that concludes the Finance part.  We will read into

         15  the record testimony from Assemblyman Steve

         16  Cymbrowitz or submit to the record.  I'm sorry, my

         17  co- chair corrects me that we have others that I

         18  didn't know about.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: I see we do have

         20  a substantial amount of other people waiting to

         21  testify today and we'll call in panels of three.  We

         22  have Macario DeLaCruz.  We have Carole Ibata. We

         23  have Kimberly Vazquez.  Okay, so Kim Vazquez had to

         24  leave so we'll bring up Andrew Larrier, also had to

         25  leave.  Annabelle Pichardo, Laura E. Posern- Ward.
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          2  There we go so do we have Carol Ibata.  Yes, please

          3  come forward.  Kimberly Vazquez, she had to leave

          4  also?  So we'll also bring up Tom McMorrow and Kevin

          5  Kovalycsik.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Is there anyone

          7  else in the audience that wants to testify?  Seeing

          8  none, this will be it.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Okay, so you

         10  decide which order you want to proceed in.

         11                 MS. IBATA: My name is Carole Ibata.

         12  I've worked at Madison Square Garden for 14 years.

         13  I'm part of one of those 28 unions.  In fact, we're

         14  the biggest with over 600 members.  Right now, 226

         15  of our members have had our health insurance cut off

         16  during negotiations with Cablevision and that's part

         17  of a contract problem that we've been having, trying

         18  to get a contract.  So some of the issues that

         19  you've talked about as far as creating jobs are,

         20  ours have been cut obviously because there are no

         21  Ranger games but the company's also not allowing any

         22  overtime.

         23                 Most of us make less than $10 an hour

         24  so they save like $3 or $4 on overtime and since our

         25  benefits are tied to how many hours we work, even
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          2  those of us who got benefits which are now frozen

          3  during the contract dispute, won't even qualify for

          4  benefits in the following season.  People with

          5  children cannot take them to the doctor right now.

          6  I have a lot of co- workers that live in the inner-

          7  city and have children with asthma.  They can't take

          8  them to the doctor until they get sick enough to go

          9  to the emergency room.

         10                 So our situation right now, I think

         11  is a good example of not really being a good

         12  neighbor and it's not just that our jobs are being

         13  cut and that we're not going to make our hours for

         14  benefits or that we don't have our health insurance

         15  that we qualified for because of this fight but

         16  people are having to go to state benefits now which

         17  puts another burden on the taxpayer to try to get

         18  medical coverage for their children while this

         19  contract dispute is going on.

         20                 So I understand that it may not be

         21  the biggest problem that the City's facing right now

         22  as far as Cablevision goes but for us that are

         23  trying to make a living and be able to go to the

         24  doctor, it's the biggest problem.

         25                 MS. WARD: My name is Laura Ward and
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          2  I've been a committed employee to Madison Square

          3  Garden since Spring of 1992 and I'm also one of

          4  those employees who've lost our benefits in lieu of

          5  it being dangled in front of us as a contract

          6  negotiation. I've recently just had to call my

          7  doctor and tell him that or cancel two doctor's

          8  appointments for my daughter so she can get shots

          9  due to this cut of benefits.  You know, like Ms.

         10  Ibata said, they're cutting hours.  My husband and I

         11  even live in the neighborhood.  We live in Hell's

         12  Kitchen.  We walk to work everyday.  This is really

         13  heartbreaking and kind of upsetting that big

         14  business such as Dolan (phonetic) can just tear this

         15  away from people who, like I've said, I've been a

         16  committed employee to Madison Square Garden for 12

         17  years.

         18            I've been there through the good in '94

         19  when the Rangers won the Stanley Cup.  I've been

         20  there in the bad in '95 when there was another

         21  lockout for the Rangers.  In '96 when there was a

         22  lock out for the NBA and I hope they lose this tax

         23  thing.

         24                 MR. MCMORROW: Hi.  It's really

         25  stirring stuff.  I'd like to thank Councilman Weprin
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          2  and the City Council for holding these hearings.

          3                 My name is Tom McMorrow and I'm a

          4  lifetime New Yorker and resident on Manhattan's west

          5  side.  During the current debate and I'm a strong

          6  supporter for the stadium which is how I found out,

          7  like many people, about the MSG tax break, but those

          8  two things are separate issues whether you build a

          9  stadium or not and whether something is right or

         10  wrong.

         11                 Madison Square Garden is a privately

         12  held building. The Garden was originally by Madison

         13  Square Park and has had several incarnations, most

         14  famously that on 49th Street between 8th and 9th

         15  Avenues in the mid- 20th century.  That sports venue

         16  was the heart and soul of Hell's Kitchen and it took

         17  years for that neighborhood to recover from it's

         18  loss and for that square block to be filled in.  At

         19  the same time, Pennsylvania Station, an icon of New

         20  York City, was razed to the ground to build this

         21  current Garden.  My point is the Garden has moved

         22  before and will move again.

         23                 When it comes to real estate taxes

         24  and this point was brought up before, the difference

         25  between Madison Square Garden and other sports
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          2  facilities in New York, is that most sports

          3  facilities in this City and indeed, in America, are

          4  owned by the local municipality in which they sit,

          5  whereas Madison Square Garden is owned by

          6  Cablevision, a billion dollar corporation.

          7                 The New York Mets, for example,

          8  cannot sell Shea Stadium because it's not theirs to

          9  sell.  Cablevision can sell the antiquated Madison

         10  Square Garden at any point to a developer for a

         11  substantial profit.

         12                 Eventually, the Garden will be torn

         13  down to be rebuilt at another location possible one

         14  further west.  That is the Garden's history.  The

         15  current building is too small.  It's circular

         16  shaped, too awkward and the real estate upon which

         17  it sits is too valuable.

         18                 There is no good reason why this

         19  piece of land should not be taxed.  This is not an

         20  issue over who should develop the train yards.  We

         21  are all adults and can deal with these issues on a

         22  case by case basis.  I say to all those who oppose

         23  the stadium, to follow my representative Christine

         24  Quinn, in what she said today, although it was a

         25  little meek but, that this is an issue that we can

                                                            137

          1  FINANCE AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  all join together on.

          3                 I would think that all New Yorkers

          4  would want to associate themselves with this better

          5  choice.  It's time for Cablevision to pay their

          6  taxes.  Thank you.

          7                 MR. KOVALYCSIK: Mr. Chairman and

          8  members of the City Council, thank you very much for

          9  having me here today.  My name is Kevin Kovalycsik

         10  and I'm a Visiting Assistant Professor and Associate

         11  Director of the Center for Sport Management at The

         12  Stillman School of Business at Seton Hall

         13  University.  I teach courses in specifically in

         14  sport finance, sport economics, sport facility

         15  management and I travel the world doing consulting.

         16  Most recently, the Peoples' Republic of China,

         17  throughout Europe and also in the Middle East.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: -- When I was in

         19  college.

         20                 MR. KOVALYCSIK: I'm telling you, it's

         21  getting better.  I want to go back myself.  Mr.

         22  Chair, you had asked a question to find a private

         23  company in New York that has and shares the same tax

         24  exemption as Madison Square Garden.  From an

         25  academic perspective, I'm here to tell you that
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          2  you'd be hard pressed to find another sport facility

          3  in the entire nation that shares this same tax

          4  exemption, a private sport facility that is.

          5                 I prepared some testimony but just to

          6  ad- lib very quickly and for the sake to shorten it.

          7    You know, there is no risk of these teams leaving

          8  New York and certainly, if there is, the leagues

          9  will replace those teams very, very quickly.  These

         10  teams are private businesses.  Their valuation is

         11  increasing daily. Cablevision is a, can be argued, a

         12  monopolistic company as you so put forth as well too

         13  and that the economic conditions of 1982 are

         14  incomparable to the economic conditions of the year

         15  2002 other than the fact that state legislature,

         16  city legislatures like yourself still struggle to

         17  find dollars for taxpayers.

         18                 In essence, from an academic

         19  perspective and putting aside the whole Madison

         20  Square Garden politics, if you will, there's no

         21  justification based upon anything that has taken

         22  place in sports throughout the entire nation for

         23  Madison Square Garden to continue this exemption.

         24  There's no precedent and there is not even anything

         25  comparable or another private sport facility that's
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          2  comparable.

          3                 Now, on the public side, that's

          4  different.  It was raised about the Meadowlands

          5  Sports Complex and the New Jersey Sports Authority

          6  that does a payment in lieu of taxes.  At times,

          7  financing is extended and private financing and

          8  interest rates are extended to these corporations

          9  but not to the tax exempt level that's extended here

         10  to the Garden so I just wanted to add that and thank

         11  you very much for having these important hearings.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you very

         13  much, ladies and gentlemen.  Seeing no other

         14  testimony, this meeting is now adjourned.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And the Finance

         16  Committee is adjourned as well.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA: Thank you and get

         18  home safely.

         19

         20  Written Testimony of:

         21  Assemblyman Steven Cymbrowitz

         22  45th District, Kings County

         23                 Thank you for giving me this

         24  opportunity to submit testimony.  Since the Assembly

         25  is in session today, my legislative responsibilities
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          2  require me to be in the Capital.

          3                 Since 1982, MSG has been exempted

          4  from paying property taxes because of special

          5  legislation adopted by the State Legislature.  In

          6  the years since, cable rates have soared, our city

          7  and state have faced continuous budget shortfalls,

          8  and yet Cablevision has enjoyed an unprecedented

          9  sweetheart tax deal.

         10                 Madison Square Garden is the only

         11  privately owned sports facility in New York which

         12  enjoys tax exemption status and it has gone on for

         13  long enough.  That is why my colleague, Assembly

         14  Member Jose Peralta and I introduced legislation

         15  several months ago to repeal Section 429 of the real

         16  property tax law relating to the granting of a tax

         17  exemption.

         18                 According to the Independent Budget

         19  Office, MSG has avoided over $200 million in

         20  property taxes in present dollars- money that could

         21  have been used to pay police officers, hire teachers

         22  or fund senior centers.

         23                 If that money had been put to good

         24  use, it could have already funded 110 high

         25  technology subway cars, 458 hybrid diesel- electric
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          2  buses, 127 teachers per year since 1982, 124 police

          3  officers per year since 1982 or 201 FDNY ladder

          4  trucks.

          5                 New York deserves good corporate

          6  citizens, not greedy ones who look to make money at

          7  the expense of hardworking taxpayers.  Cablevision

          8  is now using the funds that should be going to help

          9  provide city services to keep their monopoly intact.

         10                 If we don't end this injustice now,

         11  it will continue forever since the exemption has no

         12  sunset provision.  It's time we require Cablevision

         13  to do what hard working New Yorkers do every year-

         14  pay their taxes.

         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  Senator Martin Golden

         17                 Twenty- two years ago, Madison Square

         18  Garden was granted an exemption during difficult

         19  financial times for the institution and when it was

         20  threatening to move it's two premier sports teams,

         21  the Knicks and the Rangers, out of New York City.

         22                 But, the time to repeal this long

         23  term real estate tax exemption, which has saved the

         24  Garden more than $200 million to date, is long

         25  overdue.
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          2                 Madison Square Garden is a New York

          3  City gem, the world's most famous arena.  But now

          4  that it is profitable, the time has come for

          5  Cablevision to pay it's fair share of taxes on that

          6  arena.  The exemption no longer makes sense and

          7  should be repealed.

          8                 That is why, just last month, I

          9  announced legislation in the State Senate to repeal

         10  their tax exemption.  The legislation seeks to

         11  repeal Section 429 of the real property tax law

         12  relating to the granting of a tax exemption and low

         13  cost energy to a certain facility or professional

         14  major league sports, as enacted by Chapter 459 of

         15  the laws of 1982.

         16                 It is time that New Yorkers regain

         17  the hundreds of millions of dollars that can be used

         18  to pay for teachers, firefighters, police officers

         19  and other vital government services and it is time

         20  to ensure that moving forward, Cablevision's Madison

         21  Square Garden pays it's fair share.

         22                 As New York City and New York State

         23  face looming budget deficits, New Yorkers sure could

         24  use this tax revenue.  IT is unconscionable that the

         25  average New York homeowner pays thousands of dollars
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          2  in real estate tax annually while Madison Square

          3  Garden has no real estate tax obligation.

          4  Elimination of the tax exemption would provide more

          5  than $11 million per year in additional revenue to

          6  New York.

          7                 Now is the time for Cablevision to

          8  come clean and give back to our communities.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 4:15 p.m.)
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